

Scuola Internazionale Superiore di Studi Avanzati - Trieste

DOCTORAL THESIS

$T\bar{T}$ Deformations of Quantum Field Theory

CANDIDATE : Mengqi Zhu SUPERVISORS : Prof. Giulio Bonelli

Academic Year 2017 - 2018

SISSA - Via Bonomea 265 - 34136 TRIESTE - ITALY

Abstract

Recent work by Zamolodchikov and others has uncovered a kind of "solvable" irrelevant deformation of two dimensional QFT generated by the composite operator $T\bar{T}$. The irrelevant composite operator $T\bar{T}$ is built with the components of the energy-momentum tensor. The $T\bar{T}$ deformation can be regarded as a peculiar kind of integrable perturbation of integrable quantum field theories (IQFT). In the holographic dual, this deformation represents a geometric cutoff of the asymptotic region of AdS. The QFT is placed on a Dirichlet boundary at finite radial distance in the bulk. In this thesis we consider the problem of exact integration of the $T\bar{T}$ deformation of two dimensional quantum field theories, as well as some higher dimensional extensions in the form of $T\bar{T}$ deformations. When the action can be shown to only depend algebraically on the background metric the solution of the deformation equation on the Lagrangian can be given in closed form in terms of solutions of the (extended) Burgers' equation. We present such examples in two and higher dimensions.

Acknowledgements

I thank my supervisor Prof. Giulio Bonelli for introducing me to this interesting field and for proposing interesting topics. I am deeply grateful for his support, encouragement and advices during these years.

I thank my collaborator Nima Doroud for the pleasure to work together.

I also thank my former supervisors prof. Hanqing Zheng and prof. Junbao Wu for everything they did for me.

I finally thank all my friends and colleagues at SISSA and ICTP, with a special mention to Joao Penedo, Vladimir Bashmakov, Andre Benevides, Matteo Poggi, Gabriele Spada and Yakefu Reyimuaji.

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following publication:

1. G. Bonelli, N. Doroud, and M. Zhu, " $T\bar{T}$ -deformations in closed form," JHEP 06 (2018) 149, arXiv:1804.10967 [hep-th]

Other publications during the PhD study are listed below:

2. N. Bai, H.-H. Chen, S. He, J.-B. Wu, W.-L. Yang, and M.-Q. Zhu, "Integrable Open Spin Chains from Flavored ABJM Theory," *JHEP* 08 (2017) 001, arXiv:1704.05807 [hep-th]

3. B. Chen, J.-B. Wu, and M.-Q. Zhu, "Holographical Description of BPS Wilson Loops in Flavored ABJM Theory," *JHEP* **12** (2014) 143, arXiv:1410.2311 [hep-th]

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1
2	Basics of the $T\bar{T}$ deformation		7
	2.1	The composite operator $T\bar{T}$	7
	2.2	Expectation value	9
	2.3	Local fields X_s and local IM \ldots	11
	2.4	Integrable perturbations of IQFT	14
	2.5	$T\bar{T}$ flow energy spectrum	17
	2.6	Two particle S-matrix	21
	2.7	Holographic description of the $T\bar{T}$ deformation	22
3	$T\bar{T}$ -deformation in closed form		27
	3.1	The $T\bar{T}$ flow equation $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	27
	3.2	Free massless scalar field	30
	3.3	Interacting scalar field	33
	3.4	Curvature couplings	34
	3.5	Non-linear σ -model	35
	3.6	WZW model	36
	3.7	Massive Thirring model	37
	3.8	Generalisation to higher dimensions	40
4	Con	clusions and discussions	45
A	Met	thod of characteristic curves	47
в	Details of integrating $T\bar{T}$ deformed theories with curvature couplings		49

Chapter 1 Introduction

Exact quantification of how Quantum Field Theories react as we vary the coupling constants or dynamical scales is a crucial issue in modern theoretical physics [1, 2]. Cases where such deformations can be integrated exactly and in closed form are extremely rare and often enjoy supersymmetry. In two dimensions there exist examples of non-supersymmetric interacting QFT theories which are integrable and whose renormalisation group flow can be determined explicitly [3].

A generic QFT admits deformations by operators which instigate a flow as we probe the dynamics at different scales. Deformations which drive the flow at lower energies are considered *relevant* whilst deformations that dominate the flow as we probe the dynamics at higher energy scales are considered *irrelevant*. The latter flow is much harder to study as it generally involves reintroducing the high energy degrees of freedom that have been integrated out. Nonetheless there are examples for which the flow can be determined, notably the deformation of any local relativistic QFT in two spacetime dimensions by the irrelevant $T\bar{T}$ operator.

The composite operator $T\bar{T}$ was first studied by Zamolodchikov in [4]. It is constructed from the energy-momentum tensor for a general D = 2 QFT. It became a frequent actor in subsequent studies focused on integrable quantum field theory (IQFT) [5–8]. The $T\bar{T}$ deformation is a special case of a more general class of irrelevant integrable deformations of IQFT introducted by Smirnov and Zamolodchikov in [9]. The $T\bar{T}$ deformation is special in that the deformed theories are solvable in a certain sense, even when the original theory is not integrable. Various generalisations of the $T\bar{T}$ deformations of quantum field theories, mostly studied from the viewpoint of the partition functions, were proposed in [10–16]. Applications to holography were studied in [17–20, 22, 23, 26]. The entanglement entropy in $T\bar{T}$ deformed CFT in studied in [25]. Some implications of this irrelevant deformation for the UV theory were considered in [27–29], and in [30] a hydrodynamical approach was considered. A similar Lorentz-breaking deformation of CFT generated by the operator $J\bar{T}$ was proposed in [31] and further studied in [24, 32, 33], where J is a conserved U(1) current.

In this thesis we begin with a review of the background of $T\bar{T}$ deformation and the applications to holography. Then we focus on studying the flow equation for the $T\bar{T}$ deformed QFTs and its extensions to higher dimensions, both for conformal and massive theories.

In Chapter 2, we review the background of TT deformation following the work of Smirnov and Zamolodchikov [4, 9] and the paper by Kraus, Liu and Marolf [35]. We first review the construction of the composite $T\bar{T}$ operator in two dimensional spacetime. Let us denote the components of the energy-momentum tensor as $T = -(2\pi)T_{zz}$, $\bar{T} = -(2\pi)T_{\bar{z}\bar{z}}$ and $\Theta = (2\pi)T_{z\bar{z}}$. In the limit $z \to z'$, the operators $T(z)\bar{T}(z')$ and $\Theta(z)\Theta(z')$ are both divergent but their non-derivative divergent parts cancel each other. Thus the combination $T\bar{T} := T(z)\bar{T}(z') - \Theta(z)\Theta(z')$ is well defined in the limit $z \to z'$ up to total derivative terms. If the theory is put on a cylinder, the expectation value of the $T\bar{T}$ operator can be computed. The key relation here is the decomposition relation

$$\left\langle n\left|T\bar{T}\right|n\right\rangle = \left\langle n\left|T\left(z\right)\right|n\right\rangle \left\langle n\left|\bar{T}\left(z\right)\right|n\right\rangle - \left\langle n\left|\Theta\left(z\right)\right|n\right\rangle \left\langle n\left|\Theta\left(z'\right)\right|n\right\rangle.$$
(1.1)

The expectation values on the right hand side can all be computed by the definition of the energy-momentum tensor. The $T\bar{T}$ operator turns out to be a special case of a general class of local operators X_s , which are constructed from local conserved currents $(T_{s+1}(z), \Theta_{s-1}(z))$ by $T_{s+1}(z)\bar{T}_{s+1}(z') - \Theta_{s-1}(z)\bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z')$. The local currents satisfy the continuity equations $\partial_{\bar{z}}T_{s+1}(z) = \partial_z \Theta_{s-1}(z)$ and local integral of motions (IM) are constructed from the currents

$$P_{s} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{C} T_{s+1}(z) \, dz + \Theta_{s-1}(z) \, d\bar{z}$$
(1.2)

$$\bar{P}_{s} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{C} \bar{T}_{s+1}(z) \, dz + \bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z) \, d\bar{z}.$$
(1.3)

Integrable quantum field theories (IQFT) are characterized by an infinite number of conserved currents and local IM's. Each X_s generates a deformation of the IQFT by

$$S_{QFT} \to S_{QFT} + \sum_{s} t_s \int d^2 x X_s.$$
 (1.4)

Smirnov and Zamolodchikov[9] proved the above deformation preserves integrability. The idea is that if under the deformation generated by X_s the currents are also deformed as

$$T_{\sigma+1} \to T_{\sigma+1} + \delta g_s \hat{T}_{\sigma+1,s} \tag{1.5}$$

$$\Theta_{\sigma-1} \to \Theta_{\sigma-1} + \delta g_s \hat{\Theta}_{\sigma-1,s}, \tag{1.6}$$

where $\hat{T}_{\sigma+1,s}$ and $\hat{\Theta}_{\sigma-1,s}$ are some local fields with spins $\sigma + 1$ and $\sigma - 1$, then the local IM P_{σ} are still conserved and commute with each other. Thus the deformed theory is still integrable. The $X_1 = T\bar{T}$ operator is special in that even if the original theory is not integrable, the deformed theory is not necessarily UV complete. So it should be understood in the effective field theory sense. The UV behaviour of the deformed theories has been studied by Dubovsky et al. [7, 29, 34]. The deformation generated by $T\bar{T}$ can also be defined by the following differential equation

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L}\left(z, \bar{z}, t\right) = \frac{1}{\pi^2} T \bar{T}\left(z, \bar{z}, t\right).$$
(1.7)

Put the theory on a cylinder with circumference R. Following the definition of the deformation one finds that the energy levels $E_n = E_n(R,t)$ of stationary state $|n\rangle$ satisfy the equation

$$\frac{\partial E_n}{\partial t} = \frac{R}{\pi^2} \left\langle n \left| T\bar{T} \right| n \right\rangle. \tag{1.8}$$

Finite-size energy levels are computed based on equation (1.8). Specially if the original theory is a CFT, we have

$$E_t(R) = F_t R + \frac{R}{2\tilde{t}} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 + \frac{4\tilde{t}C_n}{R^2}} \right), \qquad (1.9)$$

where $\tilde{t} = t (1 + tF_0)$, F_0 is the bulk vacuum energy density. Deformations of IQFT that preserve integrability must also generate integrable deformations of the S-matrix. The space of infinitesimal deformations of the S-matrix contains a finite-dimensional part related to the deformations of solutions of the Yang-Baxter equation and an infinite-dimensional part of deformations of the CDD factor. The two particle S-matrix of the $T\bar{T}$ -deformed CFT takes the form

$$S = \exp\left(-i\frac{t}{4}p_1^+p_2^-\right).$$
 (1.10)

The $T\bar{T}$ -deformed CFT with t > 0 has a nice holographic dual description which is AdS₃ with a finite radial cutoff. On the bulk side the boundary lies not at asymptotic infinity but instead at a finite radius. The ability to move the boundary inward is interesting. This could shed some light on the important question of the emergence of bulk locality. The $T\bar{T}$ deformed CFT action is defined by the equation $\frac{dS(t)}{dt} = \int d^2x \sqrt{g}T\bar{T}(x)$. Assuming that the undeformed theory is a CFT, we can equivalently say that the trace of the deformed stress tensor obeys (up to derivatives of local operators)

$$T_i^i = -4\pi t T \bar{T}.\tag{1.11}$$

For general P_n the finite-size energy is

$$E_n = -\frac{R}{2\pi^2 t} \left(\sqrt{1 - \frac{4\pi^2 t}{R}} E_{n,0} + \left(\frac{2\pi^2 t}{R} P_n\right)^2 - 1 \right).$$
(1.12)

The energy level can be reproduced in pure AdS_3 gravity by considering the quasilocal energy [36, 37] defined on a surface at finite radial location r. The expression appearing under the square root above indeed exhibits similarities to the function appearing in the standard form of the BTZ solution. The quasilocal energy is given as $E = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\phi \sqrt{g_{\phi\phi}} u^i u^j T_{ij}$, where u^i is the timelike unit normal to the integration surface, and T_{ij} is the usual boundary stress tensor [36, 38]

$$T_{ij} = \frac{1}{4G} \left(K_{ij} - Kg_{ij} + \frac{1}{l}g_{ij} \right)$$
(1.13)

where g_{ij} is the boundary metric, K_{ij} is the extrinsic curvature, and l is the AdS scale. Evaluated in BTZ on a surface of fixed r, the quasilocal energy turns out to match the CFT result under the identification $t = \frac{4Gl}{\pi}$, $R = 2\pi r$. As for propagation speeds, if one considers a QFT state in the deformed theory with constant $\langle T_{++} \rangle$ and $\langle T_{--} \rangle$, then small perturbations of the stress tensor can be shown to propagate at speeds

$$v_{+} = 1 + 2\pi t \left\langle T_{++} \right\rangle + \mathcal{O}\left(t^{2}\right) \tag{1.14}$$

$$v_{-} = 1 + 2\pi t \langle T_{--} \rangle + \mathcal{O}(t^2).$$
 (1.15)

The same propagation speeds arise in pure AdS_3 gravity by considering perturbations that preserve Dirichlet boundary conditions on the cutoff surface. If we use coordinates such that $ds^2 = d\rho^2 + g_{ij}(x,\rho) dx^i dx^j$ with a cutoff surface at fixed ρ , then the $\rho\rho$ component of the Einstein equations is

$$-\frac{1}{2}R^{(2)} + \frac{1}{2}\left[K^2 - K^{ij}K_{ij}\right] - 1 = 0.$$
(1.16)

Applying this equation to the stress tensor we get the trace relation (1.11) under the identification $t = \frac{4G}{\pi}$.

In Chapter 3 we propose a simple integration technique for the $T\bar{T}$ flow equation. More specifically, the flow equation induced by the $T\bar{T}$ -deformation can be reformulated as a functional equation. Under certain conditions the functional equation reduces to a simple PDE and can be solved exactly. For a QFT with the partition function

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\circ}[g_{\mu\nu},\lambda] = \int [\mathcal{D}\Phi] e^{-S_{\circ}}, \qquad (1.17)$$

where the action is

$$S(t) = \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \mathcal{L}(t) , \qquad (1.18)$$

We assume that the deformed partition function \mathcal{Z}_t stems from a local action S(t). We can define the $T\bar{T}$ flow equation as

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta\right) \mathcal{Z}_t = 0, \qquad (1.19)$$

where the functional operator Δ above is defined as

$$\Delta = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{M} \mathrm{d}^{2} x \frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \epsilon^{\mu\nu} \epsilon^{\rho\sigma} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\rho}(x+\delta)} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\nu\sigma}(x-\delta)} \,. \tag{1.20}$$

The initial condition is $Z_{t=0} = Z_{\circ}$. Since the deformation operator Δ does not generate terms involving derivatives of the metric unless such terms are already present in the undeformed Lagrangian, we can then rewrite the flow equation in local form as

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}} \,, \tag{1.21}$$

where

$$\mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}} = \mathcal{L}^2 - 2\mathcal{L}g^{\mu\nu}\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial g^{\mu\nu}} + 2\varepsilon^{\mu\nu}\varepsilon^{\rho\sigma}\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial g^{\mu\rho}}\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial g^{\nu\sigma}}.$$
 (1.22)

Notice we can always absorb a constant factor to the definition of the parameter t. We will provide explicit solutions in closed form for the flow equation in many examples, notably non-linear σ -models and the massive Thirring model.

Chapter 2 Basics of the $T\bar{T}$ deformation

In this Chapter we review the construction of the composite operator $T\bar{T}$ and the deformation of QFT generated by $T\bar{T}$. We closely follow the analysis in the paper of Smirnov and Zamolodchikov [9] and the paper of Kraus, Liu and Marolf [35].

2.1 The composite operator TT

In two dimensional quantum field theory, the composite operator $T\bar{T}$ is built from the chiral components T, \bar{T} of the energy-momentum tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$. Point z of the flat 2D space with Euclidean signature can be labeled by Cartesian coordinates (x, y). It is more convenient to use complex coordinates $(z, \bar{z}) = (x + iy, x - iy)$. With the CFT convention[39], chiral components of the energy-momentum tensor are defined as follows

$$T = -(2\pi) T_{zz}, \quad \bar{T} = -(2\pi) T_{\bar{z}\bar{z}}, \quad \Theta = (2\pi) T_{z\bar{z}}.$$
 (2.1)

The expectation value of composite operator $T\bar{T}$ satisfies an important relation

$$\langle T\bar{T} \rangle = \langle T \rangle \langle \bar{T} \rangle - \langle \Theta \rangle^2.$$
 (2.2)

This property was first proved by Zamolodchikov [4] and holds for any generic two dimensional quantum field theory with translational symmetry. The proof relies on the conservation equation

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}T\left(z\right) = \partial_{z}\Theta\left(z\right) \tag{2.3}$$

$$\partial_{z}\bar{T}\left(z\right) = \partial_{\bar{z}}\Theta\left(z\right). \tag{2.4}$$

Now we consider the difference of two-point functions

$$\Xi(z, z') \equiv \langle T(z) \bar{T}(z') \rangle - \langle \Theta(z) \Theta(z') \rangle.$$
(2.5)

In the limit $z \to z'$ this function $\Xi(z, z')$ formally reduces to the expectation value of the composite operator $T\bar{T}$. One expects that the composite operator $T\bar{T}$ can be obtained from the product $T(z)\bar{T}(z')$ by bringing the points z and z' together. But the operator product expansion of $T(z)\bar{T}(z')$ contains singular terms. As we will see the term $\Theta(z)\Theta(z')$ exactly subtracts the singular terms, such that the limit $z \to z'$ is up to total derivative terms, well defined. Taking $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ derivative of $\Xi(z, z')$ and using the conservation equation we find

$$\left\langle \partial_{\bar{z}}T\left(z\right)\bar{T}\left(z'\right)\right\rangle - \left\langle \partial_{\bar{z}}\Theta\left(z\right)\Theta\left(z'\right)\right\rangle = -\left\langle \Theta\left(z\right)\partial_{z'}\bar{T}\left(z'\right)\right\rangle + \left\langle \Theta\left(z\right)\partial_{\bar{z}'}\Theta\left(z'\right)\right\rangle = 0$$
(2.6)

where we have used the fact that two-point correlation functions depend only on the separations z - z'. This shows $\partial_{\bar{z}} \Xi(z, z') = 0$. In the similar way one derives that $\partial_z \Xi(z, z') = 0$. Hence the function $\Xi(z, z')$ is a constant. Now we consider the limit where z and z' are infinitely separated. In this limit $\Xi(z, z')$ becomes $\langle T \rangle \langle \bar{T} \rangle - \langle \Theta \rangle^2$. This proves equation (2.2). To get more insight we continue to study the combination of the operator products $T(z)\bar{T}(z') - \Theta(z)\Theta(z')$ itself instead of two-point functions. It is assumed that the shortdistance behaviour of the field theory is governed by a conformal field theory that certain no-resonance condition is satisfied[4]. We assume the operator product expansions (OPE) as follows

$$\Theta(z)\bar{T}(z') = \sum_{i} B_i(z-z')\mathcal{O}_i(z')$$
(2.7)

$$T(z)\Theta(z') = \sum_{i} A_i (z - z') \mathcal{O}_i (z')$$
(2.8)

and

$$T(z)\bar{T}(z') = \sum_{i} D_{i}(z-z')\mathcal{O}_{i}(z')$$
(2.9)

$$\Theta(z)\Theta(z') = \sum_{i} C_i (z - z') \mathcal{O}_i (z'). \qquad (2.10)$$

Using the conservation equation

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} \left(T(z) \bar{T}(z') - \Theta(z) \Theta(z') \right) = \left(\partial_{z} + \partial_{z'} \right) \Theta(z) \bar{T}(z') - \left(\partial_{\bar{z}} + \partial_{\bar{z}'} \right) \Theta(z) \Theta(z') , \quad (2.11)$$

when $(\partial_z + \partial_{z'})$ acts on a function of z - z' it gives 0. Using the operator product expansions, the above equation reads

$$\sum_{i} \partial_{\bar{z}} F_{i}(z-z') \mathcal{O}_{i}(z') = \sum_{i} \left(B_{i}(z-z') \partial_{z'} \mathcal{O}_{i}(z') - C_{i}(z-z') \partial_{\bar{z}'} \mathcal{O}_{i}(z') \right)$$
(2.12)

where

$$F_i(z - z') = D_i(z - z') - C_i(z - z').$$
(2.13)

Similarly we obtain

$$\partial_{z} \left(T\left(z\right) \bar{T}\left(z'\right) - \Theta\left(z\right) \Theta\left(z'\right) \right) = \left(\partial_{z} + \partial_{z'}\right) T\left(z\right) \bar{T}\left(z'\right) - \left(\partial_{\bar{z}} + \partial_{\bar{z}'}\right) T\left(z\right) \Theta\left(z'\right)$$
(2.14)

with the operator product expansions, it reads

$$\sum_{i} \partial_{z} F_{i}(z-z') \mathcal{O}_{i}(z') = \sum_{i} \left(D_{i}(z-z') \partial_{z'} \mathcal{O}_{i}(z') - A_{i}(z-z') \partial_{\bar{z}'} \mathcal{O}_{i}(z') \right).$$
(2.15)

The right-hand sides of equations (2.12) and (2.15) involve only derivatives of local fields. This implies that in the expansion

$$T(z)\bar{T}(z') - \Theta(z)\Theta(z') = \sum_{i} F_i(z-z')\mathcal{O}_i(z')$$
(2.16)

if $\mathcal{O}_i(z')$ is not a coordinate derivative of another local operator, F_i will be a constant (coordinate-independent). In other words

$$T(z)\bar{T}(z') - \Theta(z)\Theta(z') = \mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}}(z') + \text{derivative terms}$$
(2.17)

where $\mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}}(z')$ is some local operator. This can be viewed as a formal definition of the composite operator $T\bar{T}$

$$T\bar{T}(z) := \mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}}(z). \qquad (2.18)$$

One defines $\mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}}(z')$ modulo derivative terms. Derivative terms do not contribute to the left-hand side of equation (2.2).

2.2 Expectation value

Consider a QFT on a cylinder with Euclidean coordinates $(x, y) \sim (x + R, y)$. The coordinate y along the cylinder is taken as the Euclidean time. Field theory states are defined on the circle of circumference R and are evolving by the Hamiltonian H. Let P denote the momentum operator and consider a non-degenerate eigenstate $|n\rangle$ of the Hamiltonian and momentum operators,

$$H|n\rangle = E_n|n\rangle, P|n\rangle = P_n|n\rangle.$$
(2.19)

We assume the normalization $\langle n | n \rangle = 1$. It is not difficult to show that the relation (2.2) is still valid if we replace $\langle ... \rangle$ by $\langle n | ... | n \rangle$.

$$\Xi_{n}(z,z') \equiv \left\langle n \left| T(z) \,\overline{T}(z') \right| n \right\rangle - \left\langle n \left| \Theta(z) \,\Theta(z') \right| n \right\rangle.$$
(2.20)

Similar to previous discussion one can show

$$\partial_z \Xi_n \left(z, z' \right) = 0 \tag{2.21}$$

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} \Xi_n \left(z, z' \right) = 0 \tag{2.22}$$

i.e. $\Xi_n(z, z')$ is independent of z and z' hence it is a constant. But the asymptotic factorization no longer holds. We write down the spectral decompositions of two point functions

$$\langle n | T(z) \overline{T}(z') | n \rangle = \sum_{n'} \langle n | T(z) | n' \rangle \langle n' | \overline{T}(z) | n \rangle \times e^{(E_n - E_{n'})|y - y'| + i(P_n - P_{n'})|x - x'|}.$$

$$(2.23)$$

Here (x, y) and (x', y') are Cartesian coordinates of the points z and z'. The exponential term appears because we translate the \overline{T} operator from the point z' to z. Here only intermediate states $|n'\rangle$ with $E_{n'} < E_n$ would contribute. Since $\langle n | T(z) | n \rangle$ and $\langle n | \overline{T}(z) | n \rangle$ are constants the coordinate dependence is in the exponential term. $\langle n | \Theta(z) \Theta(z') | n \rangle$ would decomposite in the same way

$$\langle n | \Theta(z) \Theta(z') | n \rangle = \sum_{n'} \langle n | \Theta(z) | n' \rangle \langle n' | \Theta(z) | n \rangle \times e^{(E_n - E_{n'})|y - y'| + i(P_n - P_{n'})|x - x'|}.$$
(2.24)

In order for $\Xi_n(z, z')$ to be a constant, coordinate dependent terms in the decomposition of $\langle n | T(z) \overline{T}(z') | n \rangle$ and $\langle n | \Theta(z) \Theta(z') | n \rangle$ must cancel out. This means that only the term n' = n will remain

$$\Xi_{n} = \langle n | T(z) | n \rangle \langle n | \bar{T}(z) | n \rangle - \langle n | \Theta(z) | n \rangle \langle n | \Theta(z') | n \rangle.$$
(2.25)

In the limit $z' \to z$, $T(z)\bar{T}(z') - \Theta(z)\Theta(z')$ becomes $T\bar{T}$ up to derivative terms, so

$$\Xi_n = \left\langle n \left| T\bar{T} \right| n \right\rangle, \tag{2.26}$$

and we arrive at the desired relation

$$\left\langle n\left|T\bar{T}\right|n\right\rangle = \left\langle n\left|T\left(z\right)\right|n\right\rangle \left\langle n\left|\bar{T}\left(z\right)\right|n\right\rangle - \left\langle n\left|\Theta\left(z\right)\right|n\right\rangle \left\langle n\left|\Theta\left(z'\right)\right|n\right\rangle.$$
(2.27)

The energy-momentum tensor components in Euclidean and complex coordinates have the following relations

$$T_{xx} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\bar{T} + T - 2\Theta \right)$$
 (2.28)

$$T_{yy} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\bar{T} + T + 2\Theta \right)$$
 (2.29)

$$T_{xy} = \frac{i}{2\pi} \left(\bar{T} - T \right). \tag{2.30}$$

We can invert these relations and rewrite equation (2.27) as

$$\left\langle n \left| T\bar{T} \right| n \right\rangle = -\pi^2 \left(\left\langle n \left| T_{yy} \right| n \right\rangle \left\langle n \left| T_{xx} \right| n \right\rangle - \left\langle n \left| T_{xy} \right| n \right\rangle \left\langle n \left| T_{xy} \right| n \right\rangle \right).$$
(2.31)

Since the y axis is the direction of time, by definition T_{yy} is the energy density and T_{xy} the momentum density

$$\langle n | T_{yy} | n \rangle = -\frac{1}{R} E_n \left(R \right) \tag{2.32}$$

$$\langle n | T_{xy} | n \rangle = -\frac{i}{R} P_n(R) \tag{2.33}$$

where

$$P_n\left(R\right) = \frac{2\pi l_n}{R} \tag{2.34}$$

is the corresponding spatial momenta of the states. By momentum quantization condition l_n is an integer. Now let us consider $\langle n | T_{xx} | n \rangle$. This can be computed via

$$\langle n | T_{xx} | n \rangle = \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{xx}} Z$$
 (2.35)

with correct boundary conditions. Here Z is the partition function

$$Z = \sum_{m} e^{-\beta E_m(R) + \mu q(m)}$$
(2.36)

where $\mu = \mu(m)$ is the chemical potential. Varying g^{xx} has the same effect as varying R, thus using

$$\frac{d}{dR}Z = -\beta \sum_{m} \frac{dE_m(R)}{dR} e^{-\beta E_m(R) + \mu q(m)}.$$
(2.37)

We have

$$\langle n | T_{xx} | n \rangle = -\frac{d}{dR} E_n (R) \,. \tag{2.38}$$

With these relations the expectation value (2.31) can be expressed in terms of $E_n(R)$, $P_n(R)$

$$\left\langle n\left|T\bar{T}\right|n\right\rangle = -\frac{\pi^2}{R}\left(E_n\left(R\right)\frac{d}{dR}E_n\left(R\right) + \frac{1}{R}P_n^2\left(R\right)\right).$$
(2.39)

2.3 Local fields X_s and local IM

The previous results can be generalized in Integrable Quantum Field Theories (IQFT). In IQFT there is an infinite set of commutative local Integrals of Motion (IM). Local IM are generated by local currents which are pairs of local fields $(T_{s+1}(z), \Theta_{s-1}(z))$ satisfying the conservation equations

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} T_{s+1}(z) = \partial_z \Theta_{s-1}(z) \tag{2.40}$$

where the subscripts s + 1 and s - 1 represent the spins of the corresponding fields. Both $T_{s+1}(z)$ and $\Theta_{s-1}(z)$ have scaling dimension s+1. Here s takes values in some set $\{s\} \subset \mathbb{Z}$. These sets $\{s\}$ are different for different theories and can not be empty because at least $s = \pm 1$ exist. They correspond to the components of the energy-momentum tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$. We assume that the theory is P parity invariant. Then the set $\{s\}$ is symmetric under the P-reflection $s \leftrightarrow -s$. We can use separate notation for negative s. For s > 0 we denote Θ_{-s-1} as \overline{T}_{s+1} and T_{-s+1} as $\overline{\Theta}_{s-1}$. Now the conservation equations can be written as

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} T_{s+1}(z) = \partial_z \Theta_{s-1}(z) \tag{2.41}$$

$$\partial_{z}\bar{T}_{s+1}(z) = \partial_{\bar{z}}\bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z) \tag{2.42}$$

where s is a positive integer. Given the currents $(T_{s+1}(z), \overline{T}_{s+1}(z))$ and $(\Theta_{s-1}(z), \overline{\Theta}_{s-1}(z))$, we may attempt to construct composite fields by taking the limit $z \to z'$ in the operator products $T_{s+1}(z)\overline{T}_{s+1}(z')$ and $\Theta_{s-1}(z)\overline{\Theta}_{s-1}(z')$. Similar to the previous discussion, $T_{s+1}(z)\overline{T}_{s+1}(z')$ and $\Theta_{s-1}(z)\Theta_{s-1}(z')$ will be singular in the limit $z \to z'$. However the non-derivative divergent terms in the OPE of $T(z)\overline{T}(z')$ cancel with those in the OPE of $\Theta(z)\Theta(z')$. Thus for the combination of the operator products

$$T_{s+1}(z)\bar{T}_{s+1}(z') - \Theta_{s-1}(z)\bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z')$$
(2.43)

the limit $z \to z'$ can be taken. It defines the local fields X_s up to derivative terms

$$\lim_{z \to z'} \left(T_{s+1}(z) \, \bar{T}_{s+1}(z') - \Theta_{s-1}(z) \, \bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z') \right) = X_s(z') + \text{derivative terms.}$$
(2.44)

The derivative terms may involve divergent coefficients but they can nonetheless be ignored. Now we show that the limit $z \to z'$ can indeed be properly taken. The proof is similar to the discussion in the previous section for s = 1. Assume the OPEs

$$\Theta_{s-1}(z)\bar{T}_{s+1}(z') = \sum_{i} B_i(z-z')\mathcal{O}_i(z')$$
(2.45)

$$\Theta_{s-1}(z)\bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z') = \sum_{i} C_i(z-z')\mathcal{O}_i(z')$$
(2.46)

where the sum is over the complete set of independent fields $\mathcal{O}_i(z')$ of the theory. Now we consider the \bar{z} derivative of the combination (2.43). Using the continuity equations (2.41) we can easily verify

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} \left(T_{s+1} \left(z \right) \bar{T}_{s+1} \left(z' \right) - \Theta_{s-1} \left(z \right) \bar{\Theta}_{s-1} \left(z' \right) \right) = (\partial_{z} + \partial_{z'}) \Theta_{s-1} \left(z \right) \bar{T}_{s+1} \left(z' \right) - (\partial_{\bar{z}} + \partial_{\bar{z}'}) \Theta_{s-1} \left(z \right) \bar{\Theta}_{s-1} \left(z' \right).$$
(2.47)

Plugging in the OPEs (2.45), we find

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} \left(T_{s+1}(z) \, \bar{T}_{s+1}(z') - \Theta_{s-1}(z) \, \bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z') \right) =$$

$$\sum_{i} B_{i}(z-z') \, \partial_{z'} \mathcal{O}_{i}(z') - \sum_{i} C_{i}(z-z') \, \partial_{\bar{z}'} \mathcal{O}_{i}(z') \,.$$
(2.48)

Since the coefficients $B_i (z - z')$ and $C_i (z - z')$ are annihilated by the derivatives $(\partial_z + \partial_{z'})$ and $(\partial_{\bar{z}} + \partial_{\bar{z}'})$, we conclude that the OPE of the l.h.s in equation (2.48) consists of only derivative terms. Similar calculations show that the ∂_z derivative of (2.43) also consists of only derivative terms. So the OPE of both ∂_z and $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ derivatives of the (2.43) consist only derivative terms. This means that the OPE of equation (2.43) consists mostly of the derivative terms, except for a single term which comes with a constant coefficient. This constant coefficient can be reabsorbed into the definition of the composite operator X_s below. Thus we can write

$$T_{s+1}(z)\bar{T}_{s+1}(z') - \Theta_{s-1}(z)\bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z') = X_s(z') + \text{derivative terms.}$$
(2.49)

Thus we see that the limit in equation (2.44) can be taken properly. We can also compute the expectation value $\langle n | X_s | n \rangle$ in a similar way as we discussed for $X_1 = T\overline{T}$. Put the theory on an infinite cylinder with circumference R. The energy spectrum is discrete and we assume that the states $|n\rangle$ are generally non-degenerate

$$\langle n | X_s | n \rangle = \langle n | T_{s+1}(z) \overline{T}_{s+1}(z') | n \rangle - \langle n | \Theta_{s-1}(z) \overline{\Theta}_{s-1}(z') | n \rangle.$$
 (2.50)

Then write down the spectral decomposition

$$\langle n | T_{s+1}(z) \bar{T}_{s+1}(z') | n \rangle = \sum_{n'} \langle n | T_{s+1}(z) | n' \rangle \langle n' | \bar{T}_{s+1}(z') | n \rangle \times$$

$$e^{(E_n - E_{n'})|y-y'| + i(P_n - P_{n'})|x-x'|}.$$

$$(2.51)$$

As in the $T\bar{T}$ case, the terms with $n' \neq n$ will cancel those in the decomposition of $\langle n | \Theta_{s-1}(z) \bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z') | n \rangle$. Only the term n' = n remain

$$\langle n | X_s | n \rangle = \langle n | T_{s+1}(z) | n \rangle \langle n | \overline{T}_{s+1}(z) | n \rangle - \langle n | \Theta_{s-1}(z) | n \rangle \langle n | \overline{\Theta}_{s-1}(z') | n \rangle.$$
(2.52)

In the limit $R \to \infty$ the expectation value $\langle X_s \rangle$ vanishes for s > 1 since rotational symmetry forces the r.h.s of (2.52) to vanish.

The local Integrals of Motion (IM) are generated by the currents $(T_{s+1}(z), \overline{T}_{s+1}(z))$ and $(\Theta_{s-1}(z), \overline{\Theta}_{s-1}(z))$

$$P_{s} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{C} T_{s+1}(z) \, dz + \Theta_{s-1}(z) \, d\bar{z}$$
(2.53)

$$\bar{P}_{s} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{C} \bar{T}_{s+1}(z) \, dz + \bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z) \, d\bar{z}.$$
(2.54)

Because of the conservation equation (2.41) the integral P_s and \bar{P}_s do not change under trivial deformations of the integration path C. For integrable theories, $\{P_s\}$ form a commutative set

$$[P_s, P_{s'}] = 0 \tag{2.55}$$

for any $s, s' \in \{s\}$. This implies

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_C \left[P_s, T_{s+1}\left(z\right) \right] dz + \left[P_s, \Theta_{s-1}\left(z\right) \right] d\bar{z} = 0.$$
(2.56)

The local IMs satisfy

$$[P_s, T_{s+1}(z)] = \partial_z A_{\sigma,s}(z) \tag{2.57}$$

$$[P_s, \Theta_{s-1}(z)] = \partial_{\bar{z}} A_{\sigma,s}(z) \tag{2.58}$$

and

$$\left[P_{s}, \bar{T}_{s+1}\left(z\right)\right] = \partial_{\bar{z}} B_{\sigma,s}\left(z\right) \tag{2.59}$$

$$\left[P_{s},\bar{\Theta}_{s-1}\left(z\right)\right] = \partial_{z}B_{\sigma,s}\left(z\right) \tag{2.60}$$

where $A_{\sigma,s}$ and $B_{\sigma,s}$ are some local fields. There are similar equations for the commutators of \bar{P}_s and local currents. Here the commutators is defined by integrals

$$[P_s, \mathcal{O}(z_0)] = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{C_{z_0}} [T_{s+1}(z) \, dz + \Theta_{s-1}(z) \, d\bar{z}] \, \mathcal{O}(z_0) \,. \tag{2.61}$$

These properties will be used in next sections.

2.4 Integrable perturbations of IQFT

Let Σ denote the space of all 2D quantum field theories, then the space of all Integrable Quantum Field Theories (IQFT) is a subspace $\Sigma^{Int} \subset \Sigma$. The infinitesimal deformations of IQFT that preserve integrability form the tangent space $T\Sigma^{Int}|_{IQFT}$, which is a subspace of $T\Sigma|_{IQFT}$. The space $T\Sigma|_{IQFT}$ is given by the span of all local scalar fields (modulo total derivatives) present in the theory. $T\Sigma^{Int}|_{IQFT}$ consists of all fields such that when added as perturbations of IQFT they preserves integrability. Note that the deformation might break the UV completeness of the theory. So such theories should be thought of as effective field theories. The UV behaviour of the deformed theories has been studied by Dubovsky et al. under the name of asymptotic fragility[7, 29, 34]. We will discuss it in more details in Section 2.6. In [9] Smirnov and Zamolodchikov show that every field X_s generates an integrable deformation of IQFT. The set $\{X_s\}$ plus a finite number of additional fields span the whole space of $T\Sigma^{Int}|_{IQFT}$. Now we briefly present the argument for this. Denote $\mathcal{F} = Span \{\mathcal{O}_a(z)\}$ the space of all local fields, $\partial \mathcal{F} = Span \{\partial_z \mathcal{O}_a(z), \partial_{\bar{z}} \mathcal{O}_a(z)\}$ and $\hat{\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{F}/\partial \mathcal{F}$ the factor space. A generic Lagrangian QFT is described by some action

$$S[\varphi] = \int d^2 z \mathcal{L}(\varphi(z), \partial_\mu \varphi(z), \partial_\mu \partial_\nu \varphi(z), ..).$$
(2.62)

Denote the set $\{g^i\}$ a full set of coupling constants. Generic variations of the action can be written as

$$\delta S = \int d^2 z \delta \mathcal{L} \left(z \right) \tag{2.63}$$

$$\delta \mathcal{L}(z) = \sum_{i} \delta g^{i} \mathcal{O}_{i}(z) \,. \tag{2.64}$$

Under such variations, correlation functions would vary as

$$\delta_g \left\langle \mathcal{O}_1\left(z_1\right) \mathcal{O}_2\left(z_2\right) \dots \mathcal{O}_n\left(z_n\right) \right\rangle_g = -\sum_i \delta g^i \int d^2 z \left\langle \mathcal{O}_i\left(z\right) \mathcal{O}_1\left(z_1\right) \mathcal{O}_2\left(z_2\right) \dots \mathcal{O}_n\left(z_n\right) \right\rangle_g + \sum_k \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{i_1}\left(z_1\right) \dots \delta_g \mathcal{O}_{i_k}\left(z_2\right) \dots \mathcal{O}_{i_n}\left(z_n\right) \right\rangle_g.$$
(2.65)

To show that X_s generates an integrable deformation, we first need to prove that the commutator of any local IM P_{σ} with any of the fields X_s is a derivative term

$$[P_{\sigma}, X_s(z)] \in \partial \mathcal{F}.$$
(2.66)

Here the commutator is defined in equation (2.61). $X_s(z)$ is defined by currents

$$\left[P_{\sigma}, T_{s+1}(z) \,\bar{T}_{s+1}(z') - \Theta_{s-1}(z) \,\bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z')\right].$$
(2.67)

Consider the terms generated by commuting P_{σ} with $T_{s+1}(z)$ and $\Theta_{s-1}(z)$. Using the relations (2.57), (2.58) and the conservation equations (2.42) one finds

$$\partial_{z}A_{\sigma,s}(z)\bar{T}_{s+1}(z') - \partial_{\bar{z}}A_{\sigma,s}(z)\bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z')$$

$$= (\partial_{z} + \partial_{z'})A_{\sigma,s}(z)\bar{T}_{s+1}(z') - (\partial_{\bar{z}} + \partial_{\bar{z}'})A_{\sigma,s}(z)\bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z') \in \partial\mathcal{F}.$$

$$(2.68)$$

Similar to previous discussion, in the second line we replace $A_{\sigma,s}(z) \bar{T}_{s+1}(z')$ and $A_{\sigma,s}(z) \bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z')$ by their OPE. The coefficients are functions of (z - z') hence will be annihilated by the derivatives $(\partial_z + \partial_{z'})$ and $(\partial_{\bar{z}} + \partial_{\bar{z}'})$. So the r.h.s are derivative terms. In the same way we can prove that terms generated by commuting P_{σ} with $\bar{T}_{s+1}(z)$ and $\bar{\Theta}_{s-1}(z)$ are derivative terms too

$$T_{s+1}(z)\partial_{\bar{z}'}B_{\sigma,s}(z') - \Theta_{s-1}(z)\partial_{z'}B_{\sigma,s}(z')$$

$$= (\partial_{\bar{z}} + \partial_{\bar{z}'})T_{s+1}(z)B_{\sigma,s}(z') - (\partial_{z} + \partial_{z'})\Theta_{s-1}(z)B_{\sigma,s}(z') \in \partial\mathcal{F}.$$

$$(2.69)$$

Therefore (2.67) is a combination of derivative terms. Taking the limit $z \to z'$ we get (2.66). Now we need to show that after we deform the theory, there are still local IMs. To this end, there need to be conserved currents. Consider the following correlation function

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O} \int_{C} \left[T_{\sigma+1} \left(z \right) dz + \Theta_{\sigma-1} \left(z \right) d\bar{z} \right] \right\rangle \tag{2.70}$$

where \mathcal{O} stands for any insertion of operators $\mathcal{O}_{a_1}(z_1) \mathcal{O}_{a_2}(z_2) \dots \mathcal{O}_{a_n}(z_n)$. The conservation equations for the currents $(T_{\sigma+1}, \Theta_{\sigma-1})$ is equivalent to the condition that (2.70) vanish as long as all the insertion points $z_1, z_2, \dots z_n$ lie outside the contour C. Now we deform the theory by adding the term $\delta g_s \int d^2 z X_s(z)$ to the action. (2.70) deforms as

$$-\delta g_s \int d^2 w \langle X_s(w) \mathcal{O} \int_C [T_{\sigma+1}(z) dz + \Theta_{\sigma-1}(z) d\bar{z}] \rangle$$

$$+ \langle \mathcal{O} \int_C [\delta_{g_s} T_{\sigma+1}(z) dz + \delta_{g_s} \Theta_{\sigma-1}(z) d\bar{z}] \rangle.$$
(2.71)

We need to find a way to choose properly $\delta_{g_s}T_{\sigma+1}(z)$ and $\delta_{g_s}\Theta_{\sigma-1}(z)$ so that the variation (2.71) vanishes. If the variation (2.71) vanishes, it means correlation function (2.70) still vanishes after deformation. So for the deformed theory there are still conserved currents and local IM's. Let us look at the first term in (2.71). The insertion points $z_1, z_2, ..., z_n$ lies outside the contour C. If w also lies outside C, then the expectation value vanishes since all insertion points lie outside the contour. So $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} d^2 w$ can be replaced by $\int_{D(C)} d^2 w$ where D(C) is the area lies inside the contour C. By the definition equation (2.61)

$$X_{s}(w) \int_{C} \left[T_{\sigma+1}(z) \, dz + \Theta_{\sigma-1}(z) \, d\bar{z} \right] = 2\pi \left[P_{s}, X_{s}(w) \right]. \tag{2.72}$$

We have seen in equation (2.66) that the commutator is a derivative term

$$4\pi i \left[P_s, X_s \left(w \right) \right] = \partial_{\bar{w}} \hat{T}_{\sigma+1,s} \left(w \right) + \partial_w \hat{\Theta}_{\sigma-1,s} \left(w \right)$$

$$(2.73)$$

where $\hat{T}_{\sigma+1,s}$ and $\hat{\Theta}_{\sigma-1,s}$ are some local fields with spins $\sigma + 1$ and $\sigma - 1$ respectively. The remaining integral is

$$-\delta g_{s} \langle \mathcal{O} \int_{D(C)} d^{2}w \left(\partial_{\bar{w}} \hat{T}_{\sigma+1,s} \left(w \right) + \partial_{w} \hat{\Theta}_{\sigma-1,s} \left(w \right) \right) \rangle =$$

$$-\delta g_{s} \langle \mathcal{O} \oint_{C} \left(\hat{T}_{\sigma+1,s} \left(w \right) dw + \hat{\Theta}_{\sigma-1,s} \left(w \right) d\bar{w} \right) \rangle.$$

$$(2.74)$$

Thus the variation (2.71) becomes

$$-\delta g_{s} \langle \mathcal{O} \oint_{C} \left(\hat{T}_{\sigma+1,s} \left(z \right) dz + \hat{\Theta}_{\sigma-1,s} \left(z \right) d\bar{z} \right) \rangle$$

$$+ \langle \mathcal{O} \int_{C} \left[\delta_{g_{s}} T_{\sigma+1} \left(z \right) dz + \delta_{g_{s}} \Theta_{\sigma-1} \left(z \right) d\bar{z} \right] \rangle.$$

$$(2.75)$$

It can be set to zero by choosing

$$\delta_{g_s} T_{\sigma+1} = \delta g_s \hat{T}_{\sigma+1,s} \tag{2.76}$$

$$\delta_{g_s}\Theta_{\sigma-1} = \delta g_s \Theta_{\sigma-1,s}. \tag{2.77}$$

We find that after the deformation by the operator X_s , the deformed theory still has conserved currents and local IM provided the currents are deformed as

$$T_{\sigma+1} \to T_{\sigma+1} + \delta g_s \hat{T}_{\sigma+1,s} \tag{2.78}$$

$$\Theta_{\sigma-1} \to \Theta_{\sigma-1} + \delta g_s \Theta_{\sigma-1,s}. \tag{2.79}$$

In this way we find the entire set of local IM for the deformed theory. We still need to prove that the deformed IMs $\{P_s, \bar{P}_s\}$ commute with each other. Here there is no rigorous proof yet. One argument is as follows. If two IMs P_s and $P_{s'}$ do not commute with each other, $[P_s, P_{s'}] = Q_{s+s'} \neq 0$, then $Q_{s+s'}$ must be another local IM. This means that in the deformed theory the local IM form a non-abelian algebra. A non-abelian algebra of local higher spin IM means very powerful symmetry structure which is unknown so far outside CFT or free massive QFT. So one can conjecture that in the deformed theory local IM still commute with each other.

2.5 $T\bar{T}$ flow energy spectrum

The operator X_1 is identical to $T\bar{T}$ where $T\bar{T}$ is built from the components of the energymomentum tensor. So $T\bar{T}$ is present in any QFT. $T\bar{T}$ operator is special because even if the original theory is not integrable, the deformation generated is in some sense solvable. Let us denote by \mathcal{L} the Lagrangian density of the theory. The deformation generated by $T\bar{T}$ can be defined by the following differential equation

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L}\left(z, \bar{z}, t\right) = \frac{1}{\pi^2} T \bar{T}\left(z, \bar{z}, t\right).$$
(2.80)

Consider the theory on a cylinder with circumference R. Following the definition of the deformation one finds that the energy levels $E_n = E_n(R, t)$ of stationary state $|n\rangle$ satisfy the equation

$$\frac{\partial E_n}{\partial t} = \frac{R}{\pi^2} \left\langle n \left| T\bar{T} \right| n \right\rangle.$$
(2.81)

Let us show briefly the derivation in the following. Suppose we also compactify the time direction. So our theory is on a torus with characteristic lengths (L, R). For both sides of equation (2.80) we integrate over the torus and then take the vacuum expectation value

$$\langle \partial_t S \left[\phi \right] \rangle = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \langle \int_0^R dx \int_0^L dy T \bar{T} \rangle \tag{2.82}$$

where $S[\phi]$ is the action of the theory and ϕ denotes the collection of fields in the theory. The partition function can be written as a path integral

$$\mathcal{Z} = \int D\phi e^{-S[\phi]}.$$
(2.83)

In this representation the left hand side of equation (2.82) becomes

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{Z}} \int D\phi e^{-S[\phi]} \partial_t S[\phi] = -\partial_t \ln \mathcal{Z}.$$
(2.84)

So we get

$$-\partial_t \ln \mathcal{Z} = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \langle \int_0^R dx \int_0^L dy T\bar{T} \rangle.$$
(2.85)

The partition can also be expressed as

$$\mathcal{Z} = \sum_{n} e^{-LE_n}.$$
(2.86)

For the left hand side of equation (2.85) we have

$$-\partial_t \ln \mathcal{Z} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{Z}} \sum_n \frac{\partial E_n}{\partial t} L e^{-LE_n}.$$
(2.87)

For the right hand side of equation (2.85) we have

$$\frac{1}{\pi^2} \langle \int_0^R dx \int_0^L dy T\bar{T} \rangle = \frac{1}{\pi^2 \mathcal{Z}} \sum_n \langle n | \int_0^R dx \int_0^L dy T\bar{T} | n \rangle e^{-LE_n}.$$
 (2.88)

So we get

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{Z}}\sum_{n}\frac{\partial E_{n}}{\partial t}Le^{-LE_{n}} = \frac{1}{\pi^{2}\mathcal{Z}}\sum_{n}\langle n|\int_{0}^{R}dx\int_{0}^{L}dyT\bar{T}|n\rangle e^{-LE_{n}}$$
(2.89)

We can see that the equality must hold for every n. This gives equation (2.81).

We have computed $\langle n | T\bar{T} | n \rangle$ in equation (2.39). Thus we get a closed differential equation for the energy levels

$$\frac{\partial E_n}{\partial t} + E_n \frac{\partial E_n}{\partial R} + \frac{1}{R} P_n^2 = 0$$
(2.90)

where $P_n(R) = \frac{2\pi l_n}{R}$ is the corresponding spatial momenta of the states. Now Let us think about the solution of equation (2.90). This equation has the same form for all eigenvalues $E_n(R,t)$ so we can omit the index n. Now we put the theory on the cylinder again. Let us use $E_t(R)$ to denote $E_n(R,t)$. Equation (2.90) is formally identical to the forced inviscid Burgers equation, with $E_t(R)$ playing the role of velocity field and t as the time. When P = 0 the solution is well known and is given by

$$E_t(R) = E_0(R - tE_t(R)).$$
(2.91)

 $E_t(R)$ is the finite size energy level. We expect it to have the form $E_t(R) \simeq F_t R$, up to terms bounded at $R \to \infty$. Here F_t is the bulk vacuum energy density. In the limit

 $M_t R \gg 1$ the energies are well below inelastic thresholds. We can check that the following solution solves equation (2.90)

$$E_t(R) \simeq F_t R + \sqrt{M_t^2 + P^2(R)}$$
 (2.92)

where

$$F_t = \frac{F_0}{1 + tF_0}$$
(2.93)

and

$$M_t = \frac{M_0}{1 + tF_0}.$$
 (2.94)

The first term in equation (2.92) is the vacuum energy and the second term is the energy of the particle. We can read off the *t*-dependence of the bulk vacuum energy and the mass of particles. If the vacuum energy $F_0 = 0$ then we can see the energy levels will not vary with *t*. In general the solution can be written as

$$E_t(R) = F_t R + \mu_t u(r, \alpha) \tag{2.95}$$

where $r = \mu_t R$, μ_t is a mass scale which satisfies $\mu_t = \mu_0 / (1 + tF_0)$, $\alpha = t\mu_0\mu_t$. For massive theories one can take μ_t to be the mass of the theory. And $u(r, \alpha)$ is a dimensionless function and is bounded at $r \to \infty$. Plugging the ansatz (2.95) into equation (2.90) we can find $u(r, \alpha)$ satisfies the equation

$$\partial_{\alpha}u + u\partial_{r}u + \frac{\left(2\pi l\right)^{2}}{r^{3}} = 0.$$
(2.96)

This equation contains only dimensionless quantities.

For a massive theory one can consider a state of two particles with opposite momenta p and -p such that the total momentum is 0. In the limit $M \gg \frac{1}{R}$, $E_t(R)$ has the form

$$E_t(R) = F_t R + 2\sqrt{M_t^2 + p^2} + O\left(e^{-M_t R}\right).$$
(2.97)

The momentum p is subject to quantization condition $pR + \Delta_t (p) = 2\pi n$, where $\Delta_t (p)$ is the scattering phase. Now the total momentum is 0. Using equation (2.90) one finds

$$\partial_R p = -\frac{p}{R} \tag{2.98}$$

$$\partial_t p = \frac{2p}{R} \sqrt{M_t^2 + p^2}.$$
(2.99)

These indicate that $\Delta_t(p)$ satisfies the condition

$$\Delta_t(p) = \Delta_0(p) - 2tp\sqrt{M_t^2 + p^2}.$$
(2.100)

To be more clear we can act ∂_t and ∂_R on both sides of the following equation

$$pR + \Delta_0(p) - 2tp\sqrt{M_t^2 + p^2} = 2\pi n.$$
(2.101)

We obtain

$$R\partial_t p - \partial_p \Delta_0 \partial_t p - 2p\sqrt{M_t^2 + p^2} - 2t\partial_t p\sqrt{M_t^2 + p^2} - \frac{2tp^2\partial_t p}{\sqrt{M_t^2 + p^2}} = 0$$
(2.102)

$$p + R\partial_R p + \partial_R \Delta_0 - 2t\partial_R p\sqrt{M_t^2 + p^2} - \frac{2tp^2\partial_R p}{\sqrt{M_t^2 + p^2}} = 0.$$
(2.103)

Combined with equation (2.98) and (2.99) we get constraints for $\partial_p \Delta_0$ and $\partial_R \Delta_0$. It means with proper choice of Δ_0 , Δ_t can be expressed in the form of equation (2.100).

The momentum p can be expressed in terms of rapidity difference $\theta=\theta_1-\theta_2$

$$p = M_t \sinh\left(\theta/2\right),\tag{2.104}$$

and in terms of θ equation (2.100) can be rewriten as

$$\Delta_t = \Delta_0 - tM_t^2 \sinh\theta. \tag{2.105}$$

We see the *t*-flow adds a CDD factor on the two particle S-matrix

$$S_t(\theta) = S_0(\theta) \exp\left(-itM_t^2 \sinh\theta\right).$$
(2.106)

We will discuss the CDD factor in the next section.

When the undeformed theory is a CFT, the energy levels have standard form

$$E_0(R) = F_0 R - \frac{C_n}{R}$$
(2.107)

with

$$C_n = \frac{\pi}{16} \left(c - 12 \left(\Delta_n + \bar{\Delta}_n \right) \right) \tag{2.108}$$

where c is the central charge and Δ_n , $\overline{\Delta}_n$ are the eigenvalues of the operators L_0 , \overline{L}_0 . For the case $P_n = 0$ (i.e. $\Delta_n = \overline{\Delta}_n$), one can use equation (2.91) to find a solution for $E_t(R)$

$$E_t(R) = F_t R + \frac{R}{2\tilde{t}} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 + \frac{4\tilde{t}C_n}{R^2}} \right)$$
(2.109)

where $\tilde{t} = t(1 + tF_0)$. When $\tilde{t}C_n$ is negative and $R < 2\sqrt{-\tilde{t}C_n}$, $E_t(R)$ gets a non-zero imaginary part. These algebraic square-root singularities of $E_t(R)$ are called "shocks". Shocks are not specific to the cases when the undeformed theory is a CFT. Such shock singularities might have some connection with the UV completeness of the $T\bar{T}$ deformed theories.

2.6 Two particle S-matrix

Massive 2D QFTs are uniquely characterized by the spectrum of stable particles and their S-matrix. For IQFT, the presence of an infinite set of higher spin local IM implies that the S-matrix is purely elastic which means the number of particles N and the set of their individual momenta are preserved after scattering. Thus $N \to N$ S-matrix can be expressed as the product of $2 \to 2$ S-matrices. In other words, the S-matrices are factorizable. We need only to focus on the two particle S-matrix $\hat{S}(\theta)$. The two particle S-matrix is only a function of the particles' rapidity difference. Deformations of IQFT that preserve integrability must also generate deformation of the S-matrix preserving elasticity. The two particle S-matrix $\hat{S}(\theta)$ satisfies the Yang-Baxter equation and constrains of analyticity, crossing symmetry and unitarity. Thus it is fixed up to CDD factors

$$\hat{S}(\theta) \to \hat{S}(\theta) \Phi(\theta).$$
 (2.110)

 $\Phi\left(\theta\right)$ satisfies the equations

$$\Phi(\theta) \Phi(-\theta) = 1 \tag{2.111}$$

$$\Phi(i\pi + \theta) \Phi(i\pi - \theta) = 1.$$
(2.112)

The generally allowed phase takes the form

$$\Phi(\theta) = \exp\left\{i\sum_{s\in\{s\}} t_s \sinh(s\theta)\right\}$$
(2.113)

where the set $\{s\}$ coincides with the set of spins local IM of the IQFT. Therefore the space of infinitesimal deformations of the S-matrix contains a finite-dimensional part related to the deformations of solutions of the Yang-Baxter equation and an infinite-dimensional part corresponding to deformations by CDD factors

$$\delta \hat{S}(\theta) = \left(i \sum_{s \in \{s\}} \delta t_s \sinh(s\theta)\right) \hat{S}(\theta) . \qquad (2.114)$$

For the $T\bar{T}$ deformation only the lowest spin deformation is turned on and the CDD factor simplifies to

$$\Phi(\theta) = \exp\left(-i\frac{t}{4}m_1m_2\sinh(\theta)\right)$$
(2.115)

with m_1 and m_2 denoting the mass of each particle. If the original theory is a CFT, it contains only massless left- and right-moving excitations. Thus one needs to boost particle

1 and 2 in opposite directions to the speed of light and sending the masses to zero. In this limit the CDD factor reduces to

$$\Phi\left(\theta\right) = \exp\left(-i\frac{t}{8}m_1m_2e^{\theta_1-\theta_2}\right) = \exp\left(-i\frac{t}{4}p_1^+p_2^-\right)$$
(2.116)

where p_1^+ , p_2^- are the light-cone momenta of the two particles. Thus the two particle S-matrix of the $T\bar{T}$ -deformed CFT takes the form

$$S = \exp\left(-i\frac{t}{4}p_1^+p_2^-\right).$$
 (2.117)

The S-matrix definition of the $T\bar{T}$ deformation is closely related to gravitational dressing procedure [29]. For a two dimensional quantum field theory defined by its S-matrix elements $S(\{p_i\})$, the gravitationally dressed S-matrix is defined as

$$\tilde{S}(\{p_i\}) = S(\{p_i\})e^{\frac{il^2}{4}\sum_{i< j}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}p_i^{\alpha}p_j^{\beta}}$$
(2.118)

where l^2 is a parameter characterizing the dressing. The momenta are ordered according to the corresponding rapidities. If *i* and *j* are both incoming particles and $\beta_i > \beta_j$, or if they are both outgoing and $\beta_i < \beta_j$ or if *i* is incoming and *j* is outgoing we have i < j. The dressed amplitudes satisfy all the requirements of S-matrix. But their high energy behaviour is incompatible with the existence of a UV fixed point. This novel type of high energy behaviour is dubbed asymptotic fragility. A dressed theory exhibits many features expected from a gravitational theory. There are some evidence strongly indicating that the $T\bar{T}$ deformation is equivalent to the gravitational dressing[29]. With the definition of rapidity one finds

$$\frac{il^2}{4}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}p_i^{\alpha}p_j^{\beta} = -\frac{il^2}{4}m_1m_2\sinh\left(\theta\right)$$
(2.119)

By comparing equation (2.115) with equation (2.118) we find $t = l^2$ so t needs to be positive.

2.7 Holographic description of the $T\bar{T}$ deformation

The $T\bar{T}$ -deformed CFT has a nice holographic dual description which is AdS₃ with a finite radial cutoff [17, 35]. This becomes a case of the AdS₃/CFT₂ correspondence. On the bulk side the boundary lies not at asymptotic infinity but instead at a finite radius. The idea of some deformation of CFT dual to gravity with a cutoff boundary surface is studied in [40–42]. [43, 44] proposed the duality of $T\bar{T}$ -deformed CFT and AdS₃ with finite radial cutoff. The motivation is the agreement between several quantities computed on the two sides including the deformed energy spectrum and the propagation speeds of small perturbations. Stress tensor correlators can also be matched for the deformed CFT on the boundary and classical pure gravity in the bulk. Now let us discuss the matching of the deformed energy spectrum. Starting from the original theory with action S_0 . The $T\bar{T}$ deformed CFT action is defined by the equation

$$\frac{dS(t)}{dt} = \int d^2x \sqrt{g} T\bar{T}(x)$$
(2.120)

with boundary condition

$$S(t) = S_0.$$
 (2.121)

For a theory with a single mass scale μ dimensional analysis yields

$$\mu \frac{dS}{d\mu} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d^2x \sqrt{g} T_i^i. \tag{2.122}$$

A CFT deformed by $T\bar{T}$ has single scale for finite t

$$t = \frac{1}{\mu^2}.$$
 (2.123)

Comparing equation (2.120) and equation (2.122) we get the trace relation

$$T_i^i = -4\pi t T \bar{T}.$$
(2.124)

We have discussed that the finite size energy levels for the $T\bar{T}$ deformed theory on a cylinder of circumference satisfy the equation

$$\frac{\partial E_n}{\partial t} + E_n \frac{\partial E_n}{\partial R} + \frac{1}{R} P_n^2 = 0.$$
(2.125)

The solution for general P_n is

$$E_n = -\frac{R}{2\pi^2 t} \left(\sqrt{1 - \frac{4\pi^2 t}{R}} E_{n,0} + \left(\frac{2\pi^2 t}{R} P_n\right)^2 - 1 \right).$$
(2.126)

The dual gravity of the $T\bar{T}$ -deformed CFT is a BTZ blackhole in a region of AdS with finite radial cutoff $r = r_c$. The gravitational action for pure gravity in AdS₃ is

$$S = -\frac{1}{16\pi G} \int_{M} d^{3}x \sqrt{g} \left(R + 2l^{-2} \right) - \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\partial M} d^{2}x \sqrt{h} \left(K - l^{-1} \right).$$
(2.127)

Here Euclidean signature is chosen and AdS radius is set to be 1 (l = 1). The curvature conventions are that $R(AdS_3) = -6$. h_{ij} is the metric on the boundary. In a coordinate system with the metric

$$ds^{2} = d\rho^{2} + g_{ij}(x,\rho) \, dx^{i} dx^{j}$$
(2.128)

the extrinsic curvature is

$$K_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\rho} g_{ij}. \tag{2.129}$$

The Einstein's equations are

$$E_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}Rg_{\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu} = 0 \qquad (2.130)$$

takes the form

$$E_{j}^{i} = -\partial_{\rho} \left(K_{j}^{i} - \delta_{j}^{i} K \right) - K K_{j}^{i} + \frac{1}{2} \delta_{j}^{i} \left(K^{mn} K_{mn} + K^{2} \right) - \delta_{j}^{i} = 0$$
(2.131)

$$E_j^{\rho} = \nabla^i \left(K_{ij} - Kg_{ij} \right) = 0 \tag{2.132}$$

$$E^{\rho}_{\rho} = -\frac{1}{2}R^{(2)} + \frac{1}{2}\left(K^2 - K^{ij}K_{ij}\right) - 1 = 0.$$
(2.133)

The boundary stress tensor can be obtained by varying the action

$$\delta S = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^2x \sqrt{h} T^{ij} \delta h_{ij}. \qquad (2.134)$$

The stress tensor is

$$T_{ij} = \frac{1}{4G} \left(K_{ij} - Kg_{ij} + g_{ij} \right).$$
(2.135)

It obeys $\nabla^i T_{ij} = 0$ by the equation $E_j^{\rho} = 0$. So we can compute the trace of the stress tensor

$$T_i^i = \frac{1}{4G} \left(2 - K\right) \tag{2.136}$$

and

$$T\bar{T} = \frac{1}{8} \left(T^{ij} T_{ij} - \left(T^i_i \right)^2 \right) = -\frac{1}{64G^2} \left(2 - K \right) - \frac{R^{(2)}}{128G^2}.$$
 (2.137)

On a flat boundary metric we have

$$T_i^i = -16GT\bar{T}.$$
(2.138)

By comparing with the trace relation of the deformed CFT (2.124), we read the dictionary

$$t = \frac{4G}{\pi}.\tag{2.139}$$

By solving the bulk equation of motion with boundary condition, the action (2.127) becomes a functional of the boundary metric. The gravitational energy of the blackhole can be computed from the boundary stress tensor

$$\mathcal{E} = EL = \frac{L}{2\pi} \int d\phi \sqrt{g_{\phi\phi}} u^i u^j T_{ij}$$
(2.140)

where ϕ is the coordinate of the spatial circle on the boundary and L is the size of the spatial circle. The result is

$$\mathcal{E} = \frac{L^2}{2\pi^2 t} \left(1 - r_c^{-1} f(r) \right)$$

$$= \frac{L^2}{2\pi^2 t} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{4\pi^2 t}{L} M + \left(\frac{2\pi^2 t}{L} J\right)^2} \right).$$
(2.141)

This agrees with the energy spectrum of $T\bar{T}$ -deformed CFT (2.126) under the identification $M = E_0, J = p$.

The propagation speed of stress energy perturbations is derived using the conservation equation and trace relation. On a flat metric $ds^2 = dz d\bar{z}$, these equations can be written as

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}T_{zz} + \partial_z T_{z\bar{z}} = 0 \tag{2.142}$$

$$\partial_z T_{\bar{z}\bar{z}} + \partial_{\bar{z}} T_{z\bar{z}} = 0 \tag{2.143}$$

$$T_{z\bar{z}} + \pi t \left(T_{zz} T_{\bar{z}\bar{z}} - (T_{z\bar{z}})^2 \right) = 0.$$
(2.144)

By converting these equation to Lorentzian signature and linearizing round constant background $\langle T_{ij} \rangle$ we get the perturbation propagation speed as

$$v_{+} = 1 + 2\pi t \left\langle T_{++} \right\rangle + \mathcal{O}\left(t^{2}\right) \tag{2.145}$$

$$v_{-} = 1 + 2\pi t \langle T_{--} \rangle + \mathcal{O}(t^2).$$
 (2.146)

This agrees with the CFT results stated in [17]. The superluminal nature of these speeds for $\lambda > 0$ has been discussed in [42, 45]. We see the results of the deformed energy spectrum and propagation speeds match on both side. In addition, it has been shown that the results of the stress tensor correlators also agree with each other[35]. We refrain from going to the details here.

Chapter 3

$T\bar{T}$ -deformation in closed form

3.1 The $T\bar{T}$ flow equation

We have discussed the $T\bar{T}$ flow equation in equation (2.80). Now we discuss it from another point of view. Let M denote a two dimensional manifold equipped with a (Euclidean) metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}$ with $\mu, \nu = 1, 2$ and consider a QFT on M whose dynamics is governed by the local action

$$S_{\circ} = \int_{M} \mathrm{d}^{2} x \sqrt{g} \, \mathcal{L}_{\circ}(\Phi, g_{\mu\nu}, \lambda) \,. \tag{3.1}$$

Here \mathcal{L}_{\circ} denotes the Lagrangian for the local fields which we have collectively denoted by Φ . The coupling constants, denoted by λ , control the strength of interactions among the fields as well as with local sources. The partition function of this theory,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\circ}[g_{\mu\nu},\lambda] = \int [\mathcal{D}\Phi] e^{-S_{\circ}}, \qquad (3.2)$$

thus depends on the constants λ as well as the background metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. The $T\bar{T}$ -flow equation is the first order differential equation in a real deformation parameter t,

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta\right) \mathcal{Z}_t = 0, \qquad (3.3)$$

where the functional operator Δ above is defined as

$$\Delta = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{M} \mathrm{d}^{2} x \frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \epsilon^{\mu\nu} \epsilon^{\rho\sigma} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\rho}(x+\delta)} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\nu\sigma}(x-\delta)} \,. \tag{3.4}$$

The initial condition for (3.3) is provided by the undeformed theory $Z_{t=0} = Z_{\circ}$. Once the initial condition is given, then the solution is uniquely determined.

For Lagrangian theories, equation (3.3) becomes the equation for the action functional

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial t} = (S, S) \tag{3.5}$$

where the pairing (\cdot, \cdot) is defined via

$$(X,Y) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{M} \mathrm{d}^{2}x \frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \epsilon^{\mu\nu} \epsilon^{\rho\sigma} \frac{\delta X}{\delta g^{\mu\rho}(x+\delta)} \frac{\delta Y}{\delta g^{\nu\sigma}(x-\delta)}, \qquad (3.6)$$

for *local* functionals X and Y. Equation (3.5) is derived in [9], where the absence of contact terms in the $T\bar{T}$ composite operator is proven to follow from general assumptions¹. This implies that the point splitting regulator δ in the definition of the $T\bar{T}$ composite operator can be removed after the regularisation of the QFT and does not compete with its UV regulator.

Our approach to integrating $T\bar{T}$ -variations is concretely obtained by giving a class of solutions of (3.5). The computation of the path integral for the deformed theory is a different issue which we do not address here and we restrict our analysis to the deformation problem of the classical action. We propose a simple integration technique for equation (3.5) which follows from the locality of the action, the absence of space-time derivatives in Δ and covariance under diffeomorphisms Diff(M).

Let us summarise our logic. The first observation is that equation (3.5), being first order in t, has a unique solution for any initial (undeformed) local action. Locality of the operator Δ therefore suggests that we should look for a solution which can be expressed as a local functional $S(t) = \int_M d^2x \sqrt{g} \mathcal{L}(t)$ at finite t. We next observe that the deformation operator Δ does not generate terms involving derivatives of the metric unless such terms are already present in the undeformed Lagrangian². Consider a theory \mathcal{T}_{\circ} on a two dimensional manifold M endowed with the Euclidean metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}$ whose dynamics is captured by the local action $S_{\circ} = \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \mathcal{L}_{\circ}$. We are interested in finding a solution to the flow equation (3.5) in terms of a local functional

$$S(t) = \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \mathcal{L}(t) , \qquad (3.7)$$

¹This is analogous to the absence of contact terms for the YM curvature which facilitates the derivation of Migdal's loop equations in Yang-Mills theories. Furthermore, the analogue of Polyakov's loop Laplacian for YM is Δ above (See §7.2 in [46]).

²In the absence of such terms therefore the deformed Lagrangian can be viewed as a function only of certain combinations of the dynamical fields and couplings. The form of these "*invariants*" is dictated by the flow equation (3.12) as well as the explicit dependence of the undeformed Lagrangian on the metric. This, as it will be shown later, induces very strict dependences on the metric and allows the complete integration of the $T\bar{T}$ -flow equation.

with the initial condition $\mathcal{L}(t=0) = \mathcal{L}_{\circ}$. Plugging (3.7) into the *rhs* of (3.5) we find

$$(S,S) = \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \,\mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}}\,,\tag{3.8}$$

where the (local) $T\bar{T}$ -operator is given by

$$\mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu} \varepsilon^{\rho\sigma} T_{\mu\rho} T_{\nu\sigma} \,. \tag{3.9}$$

Since the theory described by S(t) is coupled to the background metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}$, the associated energy momentum tensor can be extracted by looking at small variations of the metric,

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \frac{-2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S(t)}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = g_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L}(t) - 2 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}(t)}{\partial g^{\mu\nu}}, \qquad (3.10)$$

where the second equality holds under the condition that the undeformed Lagrangian depends algebraically on the metric tensor. The unique solution of the $T\bar{T}$ -flow equation will, as already mentioned, enjoy the same property. Using this expression for the energy momentum tensor enables us to recast the $T\bar{T}$ -operator as

$$\mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}} = \mathcal{L}^2 - 2\mathcal{L}g^{\mu\nu}\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial g^{\mu\nu}} + 2\varepsilon^{\mu\nu}\varepsilon^{\rho\sigma}\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial g^{\mu\rho}}\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial g^{\nu\sigma}}.$$
(3.11)

Therefore eq.(3.5) reads

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}} \,, \tag{3.12}$$

Here the notation is a bit different from equation (2.80). This is not a problem since we can always absorb a constant into the definition of the parameter t. We will discuss the implementation of this method in the specific cases in the next sections. The upshot is that equation (3.12) reduces to a partial differential equation in the deformation variable t and invariants formed from the metric and the dynamical fields. We will show that in many examples the flow equation can be recast as the (extended) Burgers' equation. Since the Burgers' equation can be reduced to quadratures via the method of characteristics, we can present the explicit solution depending on the form of the initial condition.

We remark that the link between the Burgers' equation and the $T\overline{T}$ -deformed action was already observed in [47], where the appearance of its characteristic curve was rebuilt from the assumption of validity of the non-linear integral equation for the theory. Our approach leads directly to the Burgers' equation and in a more general setting. In the following we will first analyze the example of a single massless scalar field to familiarise the reader with our approach and to set up the notation. We then solve the case of an interacting scalar field in closed form and for an arbitrary potential before considering a general σ -model with an arbitrary target metric and *B*-field and the WZW model. We also discuss the result of a power expansion of the solution of the $T\bar{T}$ -deformation equation in the case in which a curvature coupling is turned on and show the proliferation of higher order derivatives at higher orders in the deformation parameter. In section 3.7 we explicitly solve the $T\bar{T}$ -deformation of a massive Dirac fermion with quartic interaction, i.e. the massive Thirring model, and show that the solution is in this case given by a finite power series in t. We dedicate section 3.8 to possible higher dimensional generalisations.

3.2 Free massless scalar field

As our first example we would like to find the unique solution to equation (3.12) with the initial condition provided by the action for a free real scalar field

$$S_{\circ} = \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \, g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi \,. \tag{3.13}$$

In the following we find it convenient to define the symmetric – and metric independent – tensor

$$X_{\mu\nu} := \partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi \tag{3.14}$$

whose trace we denote by $X = g^{\mu\nu} X_{\mu\nu}$. The initial Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\circ} = \frac{1}{2}X, \qquad (3.15)$$

If we expand the deformed Lagrangian in terms of t

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} t^j \mathcal{L}^{(j)}.$$
(3.16)

Then $\mathcal{L}^{(j)}$ can be computed order by order.

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} j t^{j-1} \mathcal{L}^{(j)}.$$
(3.17)

The flow equation can be expanded as

$$\sum_{j=0} (j+1) t^{j} \mathcal{L}^{(j+1)} = \sum_{k=0}^{j} \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S^{(k)}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \right) \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S^{(j-k)}}{\delta g^{\rho\sigma}} \right).$$
(3.18)

The first few orders can be computed as follows

$$\mathcal{L}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S^{(0)}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \right) \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S^{(0)}}{\delta g^{\rho\sigma}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(-\frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L}^{(0)} + \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi \right) \left(-\frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L}^{(0)} + \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi \right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4} X^{2}.$$
(3.19)

Based on $\mathcal{L}^{(0)}$ and $\mathcal{L}^{(1)}$ we can compute $\mathcal{L}^{(2)}$

$$2\mathcal{L}^{(2)} = \varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\delta S^{(0)}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}\right) \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\delta S^{(1)}}{\delta g^{\rho\sigma}}\right)$$

$$= \varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(-\frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}X + \partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi\right) \left(\frac{1}{4}g_{\rho\sigma}X^{2} - X\partial_{\rho}\phi\partial_{\sigma}\phi\right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}X^{3}$$

$$(0) = \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}X + \partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi = 0$$

$$(3.20)$$

$$\mathcal{L}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{4}X^3. \tag{3.21}$$

For $\mathcal{L}^{(3)}$ there are two terms

$$3\mathcal{L}^{(3)} = \varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\delta S^{(0)}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}\right) \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\delta S^{(2)}}{\delta g^{\rho\sigma}}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\delta S^{(1)}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}\right) \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\delta S^{(1)}}{\delta g^{\rho\sigma}}\right)$$
$$= \varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(-\frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}X + \partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi\right) \left(-\frac{1}{4}g_{\rho\sigma}X^{3} + \frac{3}{2}X^{2}\partial_{\rho}\phi\partial_{\sigma}\phi\right)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(\frac{1}{4}g_{\rho\sigma}X^{2} - X\partial_{\rho}\phi\partial_{\sigma}\phi\right) \left(\frac{1}{4}g_{\rho\sigma}X^{2} - X\partial_{\rho}\phi\partial_{\sigma}\phi\right)$$
$$= -\frac{15}{16}X^{4}$$
(3.22)

$$\mathcal{L}^{(3)} = -\frac{5}{16}X^4. \tag{3.23}$$

So the first few terms in t are

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}X - \frac{1}{4}tX^2 + \frac{1}{4}t^2X^3 - \frac{5}{16}t^3X^4 + \dots$$
(3.24)

Now we show how to directly solve the flow equation and derive the closed form for the deformed Lagrangian. we expect the deformed Lagrangian to depend on the fields only through $X_{\mu\nu}$. Moreover, since any diffeomorphism invariant function of $X_{\mu\nu}$ and the metric is only a function of the scalar X we conclude that the deformed Lagrangian is only a

function of two scalar variables t and X, *i.e.* $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(t, X)$. Consequently the deformation operator (3.11) takes the simple form

$$\mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}} = \mathcal{L}^2 - 2\mathcal{L}X\partial_X\mathcal{L}\,,\tag{3.25}$$

yielding the flow equation

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = (1 - X \partial_X) \mathcal{L}^2$$

$$= -X^2 \partial_X \left(\frac{1}{X} \mathcal{L}^2\right).$$
(3.26)

 Set

$$\mathcal{L} = -\sqrt{X}f \tag{3.27}$$

$$Y = \frac{1}{\sqrt{X}} \tag{3.28}$$

so that

$$\frac{\partial Y}{\partial X} = -X^{-3/2} \tag{3.29}$$

$$-2X^{3/2}\partial_X = \partial_Y. \tag{3.30}$$

The flow equation becomes

$$2\partial_t f = -\partial_Y f^2 \tag{3.31}$$

$$f(0,Y) = F_0(Y)$$
(3.32)

As discussed in the appendix this is Burger's equation and is solved by

$$f(t,Y) = f_0(Y - f(Y,t)t).$$
(3.33)

So we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{0} = -\sqrt{X}f_{0} \qquad (3.34)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}X$$
$$= \sqrt{X}\frac{1}{2Y}$$

which means

$$f_0(Y) = -\frac{1}{2Y}.$$
 (3.35)

Thus we get equation for f(t, Y)

$$f = \frac{-1}{2(Y - Ft)}.$$
(3.36)

We can solve for F(t, Y)

$$f = \frac{-Y \pm \sqrt{Y^2 + 2t}}{-2t}.$$
(3.37)

So we get the deformed Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = -\sqrt{X}f \qquad (3.38)$$
$$= \frac{-1 + \sqrt{1 + 2tX}}{2t}.$$

Note that the solution (3.38) is smooth for $t \ge 0$ but can become imaginary for t < 0. This is closely related to the fact that the spectrum of the deformed theory on a circle exhibits Hagedorn behavior for t < 0. The analysis above extends to more general boundary conditions which we discuss below.

3.3 Interacting scalar field

An immediate generalisation of the above result follows from the altered boundary condition

$$\mathcal{L}(0,X) = \frac{1}{2}X + V \tag{3.39}$$

where $V = V(\phi)$ is an arbitrary potential so long as it is independent of the background metric. Now we expect the deformed Lagrangian to have to have the form $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(t, X, V)$. The flow equation is the same as the free massless scalar case

$$2\partial_t f = -\partial_Y f^2 \tag{3.40}$$

$$f(0,Y) = f_0(Y).$$
 (3.41)

The initial condition now is

$$\mathcal{L}_{0} = -\sqrt{X} f_{0} \qquad (3.42)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} X + V$$

$$= \sqrt{X} \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{X} + \frac{V}{\sqrt{X}} \right)$$

$$= \sqrt{X} \left(\frac{1}{2Y} + YV \right)$$

which gives

$$f_0(Y) = -\frac{1}{2Y} - YV. (3.43)$$

So we get f(t, Y)

$$f = \frac{-1}{2(Y - ft)} - V(Y - ft).$$
(3.44)

This is a simple quadratic equation for f. We can solve for f

$$f = \frac{1}{Yt} \frac{1 - 2tV}{1 - tV} - \frac{1}{Yt} \sqrt{\left(\frac{1 - 2tV}{1 - tV}\right)^2 + 2t\frac{2 + VY^2}{Y^2 - 4t}}.$$
(3.45)

Thus we get the deformed Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2t} \frac{1 - 2tV}{1 - tV} + \frac{1}{2t} \sqrt{\left(\frac{1 - 2tV}{1 - tV}\right)^2 + 2t \frac{X + 2V}{1 - tX}}.$$
(3.46)

This agrees with (and significantly simplifies) the expression obtained in [47] whose first few terms were first presented in [34].

3.4 Curvature couplings

Another generalisation of (3.38) is obtained by imposing as the boundary condition a Lagrangian with curvature couplings. As an example, consider the undeformed Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}(t=0) = \frac{1}{2}X + \alpha_{\circ}\phi R \tag{3.47}$$

where R denotes the Ricci scalar associated with the background metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. This Lagrangian describes a theory with central charge $c = 1 + 6Q^2$, where $\alpha_{\circ} = \sqrt{2\pi}Q$. We may think of (3.47) as a deformation of the free theory and thus expand the solution to the flow equation in powers of α_{\circ} ,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \alpha_{\circ}^{n} \mathcal{L}^{(n)} \quad \text{and} \quad T_{\mu\nu} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \alpha_{\circ}^{n} T_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} ,$$

where

$$T^{(n)}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \mathcal{L}^{(n)} \,.$$

Using this expansion we can solve the flow equation,

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} T_{\mu\nu} T_{\rho\sigma} \, ,$$

order by order in α_{\circ} . At order α_{\circ}^{0} we recover (3.38), while the flow equation at order α_{\circ} reads

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L}^{(1)} = \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} T^{(0)}_{\mu\nu} T^{(1)}_{\rho\sigma}$$

This equation can in turn be solved order by order in t with the first few terms given by

$$\mathcal{L}^{(1)} = \phi R - 2t X \Box \phi + 2t^2 X^2 \Box \phi - \frac{8}{3} t^3 X^3 \Box \phi + \mathcal{O}\left(t^3\right) \,.$$

This leads us to consider the following ansatz

$$\mathcal{L}^{(1)} = \phi R + f(tX) \Box \phi.$$

Plugging this ansatz in the flow equation yields

$$2\sqrt{1+2y} + f'(y) y\sqrt{1+2y} + 2q(y) - 2 = 0,$$

where y = tX, and

$$q(y) = 1 + \int dy \frac{yf'(y)}{2\sqrt{1+2y}}.$$

Solving for f(y) we obtain the deformed Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}(t) = -\frac{1}{2t} + \frac{1}{2t}\sqrt{1 + 2tX} + \alpha_{\circ}\left[\phi R - \log\left(1 + 2tX\right)\Box\phi\right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha_{\circ}^{2}\right).$$
(3.48)

As one might have expected, upon deformation, the Ricci scalar term induces higher derivative corrections with the second order derivative term $\Box \phi = \nabla^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \phi$ appearing at order α_{\circ} . The α_{\circ} -expansion of the deformed Lagrangian therefore takes the form of an expansion in higher derivative terms which have proved too cumbersome to determine.

3.5 Non-linear σ -model

Now that the logic is clear lets see if we can generalise the above analysis to multiple scalar fields described by the σ -model action

$$S_{\circ} = \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \left[g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi^i \partial_{\nu} \phi^j G_{ij}(\phi) + \varepsilon^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi^i \partial_{\nu} \phi^j B_{ij}(\phi) \right] \,. \tag{3.49}$$

As before we define a set of metric independent tensors

$$X^{ij}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}\partial_{\nu}\phi^{j} , \qquad (3.50)$$

and the (density) scalars

$$X^{ij} = g^{\mu\nu} X^{ij}_{\mu\nu} \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{X}^{ij} = \sqrt{g} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi^i \partial_{\nu} \phi^j \,. \tag{3.51}$$

Note that the scalar densities \tilde{X}^{ij} are independent of the background metric. In fact the entire *B*-term is metric independent and therefore topological. Furthermore, topological terms are not affected by continuous, non-geometric, parameter deformations of the theory. The upshot is that the topological *B*-term is unaffected by the deformation and does not enter the analysis below.

The deformed Lagrangian depends on the metric only through the worldsheet scalars X^{ij} and \tilde{X}^{ij}/\sqrt{g} . Moreover, the latter only depends on the metric through the factor $\Omega = \sqrt{g}$. Therefore the deformed Lagrangian is expected to be a function of the deformation parameter t, the variables X^{ij} and of Ω , *i.e.*

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(t, X^{ij}, \Omega) \,. \tag{3.52}$$

This allows us to considerably simplify the expression for the deformation operator (3.11)

$$\mathcal{O}_{T\bar{T}} = \frac{2\tilde{X}^{ik}\tilde{X}^{jl}}{\Omega^2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial X^{ij}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial X^{kl}} - 2\Omega \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \Omega} X^{ij} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial X^{ij}} + \Omega^2 \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \Omega}\right)^2 + \left(1 - X^{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{ij}} + \Omega \frac{\partial}{\partial \Omega}\right) \mathcal{L}^2.$$
(3.53)

Note that factors of \tilde{X}^{ij} in this equation should be treated as constant coefficients as they do not depend on the metric.

So far we have only insisted on invariance under worldsheet diffeomorphisms. However, we expect the deformed Lagrangian to also be invariant under target space diffeomorphisms. This further constrains the form of the deformed Lagrangian such that it can only depend on the scalar $X = G_{ij}X^{ij}$, and the above equation simplifies to

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = \frac{2\tilde{X}^{ij}\tilde{X}_{ij}}{\Omega^2} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial X}\right)^2 - 2\Omega \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \Omega} X \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial X} + \Omega^2 \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \Omega}\right)^2 + \left(1 - X \frac{\partial}{\partial X} + \Omega \frac{\partial}{\partial \Omega}\right) \mathcal{L}^2 . \quad (3.54)$$

The solution to the above equation is given by

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2t} + \frac{1}{2t}\sqrt{1 + 2tX + 2t^2 \tilde{X}^{ij} \tilde{X}_{ij} \Omega^{-2}}, \qquad (3.55)$$

satisfying the boundary condition $\mathcal{L}(t=0) = X/2$. The solution (3.55) is valid for arbitrary target space metric, generalising the case of a flat metric which already appeared in [47]. As was explained the *B*-term does not enter the analysis and is only introduced through $\mathcal{L}_B(t=0) = X/2 + B_{ij}\tilde{X}^{ij}\Omega^{-1}$ resulting in the deformed action

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2t} + \frac{1}{2t}\sqrt{1 + 2tX + 2t^2\tilde{X}^{ij}\tilde{X}_{ij}\Omega^{-2}} + B_{ij}\tilde{X}^{ij}\Omega^{-1}.$$
(3.56)

3.6 WZW model

The analysis of σ -models in section 3.5 can readily be applied to Wess-Zumino-Witten (WZW) models. For simplicity we limit the discussion to the case of SU(N) WZW theory described by the action

$$S_{\circ} = \frac{k}{8\pi} \int_{M} \mathrm{d}^{2}x \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\gamma^{-1} \partial_{\mu} \gamma \gamma^{-1} \partial_{\nu} \gamma \right) + \frac{ik}{16\pi^{2}} \int_{B^{3}} \left[\operatorname{Tr} \gamma^{-1} \mathrm{d} \gamma \right]^{3}$$
(3.57)

where B^3 is any three manifold whose boundary is the the worldsheet M. The second term in the WZW action above is topological and thus, as explained in section 3.5, does not enter the flow equation and can be treated as a shift in the initial conditions. In order to use the results of the previous section we first have to express the WZW action in the σ -model variables. To this end we define the su(N)-valued vector field

$$A^a_\mu t^a = \gamma^{-1} \partial_\mu \gamma \tag{3.58}$$

where t^a denote the generators of the su(N). In analogy with the σ -model analysis of the previous section we define the scalars

$$X^{ab} = \frac{k}{4\pi} g^{\mu\nu} A^a_{\mu} A^b_{\nu} \,, \tag{3.59}$$

and the scalar densities

$$\tilde{X}^{ab} = \frac{k\sqrt{g}}{4\pi} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu} A^a_{\mu} A^b_{\nu} \,. \tag{3.60}$$

The deformed Lagrangian satisfies the same equation (3.54) as any σ -model. The resulting deformed action is therefore given by

$$S = \int_{M} \mathrm{d}^{2}x \sqrt{g} \left[-\frac{1}{2t} + \frac{1}{2t} \sqrt{1 + 2tX + 2t^{2} \tilde{X}^{ij} \tilde{X}_{ij} \Omega^{-2}} \right] + \frac{ik}{16\pi^{2}} \int_{B^{3}} \left[\mathrm{Tr} \, \gamma^{-1} \mathrm{d}\gamma \right]^{3} \,, \quad (3.61)$$

where the terms under the square-root are expressed in terms of the original fields γ as

$$X = \frac{k}{4\pi} g^{\mu\nu} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\gamma^{-1} \partial_{\mu} \gamma \gamma^{-1} \partial_{\nu} \gamma \right) , \qquad (3.62)$$

and

$$\frac{\tilde{X}^{ij}\tilde{X}_{ij}}{\Omega^2} = \left(\frac{k}{4\pi}\right)^2 \varepsilon^{\mu\nu}\varepsilon^{\rho\sigma} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\gamma^{-1}\partial_{\mu}\gamma\gamma^{-1}\partial_{\rho}\gamma\right) \operatorname{Tr}\left(\gamma^{-1}\partial_{\nu}\gamma\gamma^{-1}\partial_{\sigma}\gamma\right) \,. \tag{3.63}$$

3.7 Massive Thirring model

We now turn our attention to theories with fermionic fields. Consider a single Dirac fermion with the undeformed action

$$S_{\circ} = \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left[\frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \psi - \nabla_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} \psi \right) + V \right] , \qquad (3.64)$$

where the potential is given by

$$V = -m\bar{\psi}\psi + \frac{\lambda}{4}\bar{\psi}\gamma^a\psi\ \bar{\psi}\gamma_a\psi\ . \tag{3.65}$$

The covariant derivative acts on the fermions via

$$\nabla_{\mu}\psi = \partial_{\mu}\psi + \frac{i}{2}\omega_{\mu}\gamma^{3}\psi, \qquad \nabla_{\mu}\bar{\psi} = \partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi} - \frac{i}{2}\omega_{\mu}\bar{\psi}\gamma^{3}, \qquad \gamma^{\mu} = e^{\mu}_{a}\gamma^{a}, \qquad (3.66)$$

and the spin connection (in two dimensions) satisfies

$$\omega_{\mu}^{ab} = \epsilon^{ab} \left(\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{cd} \omega_{\mu}^{cd} \right) = \epsilon^{ab} \omega_{\mu} , \qquad (3.67)$$

with $\epsilon^{12} = -\epsilon^{21} = 1$. To study the $T\bar{T}$ -flow of this theory we first define the 2 × 2 matrix X as follows

$$X_{ab} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma_a \nabla_b \psi - \nabla_b \bar{\psi} \gamma_a \psi \right) .$$
(3.68)

Here a and b are flat indices which are raised, lowered and contracted with the flat (Euclidean) metric δ^{ab} . Using (3.66) one can show that

$$X_{a\mu} = e^b_{\mu} X_{ab} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma_a \nabla_{\mu} \psi - \nabla_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma_a \psi \right) = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma_a \partial_{\mu} \psi - \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma_a \psi \right) .$$
(3.69)

which is manifestly independent of the metric. Since the undeformed Lagrangian (3.64) is simply $\mathcal{L}_{\circ} = \text{Tr} X + V = e^{a\mu}X_{a\mu} + V$, we can work out the energy momentum tensor of the undeformed theory

$$T_{ab}^{(0)} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} e_a^{\mu} e_b^{\nu} \frac{\delta S^{(0)}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = 2e_a^{\mu} e_b^{\nu} \frac{\partial e_c^{\lambda}}{\partial g^{\mu\nu}} X_{c\lambda} - \delta_{ab} \mathcal{L}^{(0)} = X_{(ab)} - \delta_{ab} \left(\text{Tr} \, X + V \right) \,. \tag{3.70}$$

It is clear that the deformed Lagrangian is constructed solely from X and V and since these only contain the fermionic fields ψ , $\bar{\psi}$ and their first derivatives we conclude that the deformed Lagrangian can only contain products of up to order X^4 , X^2V and V^2 as all higher powers vanish identically. We therefore expect the *t*-expansion of the deformed Lagrangian to terminate. Consequently we expand the Lagrangian and the energy momentum tensor of the deformed theory as

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} t^{n} \mathcal{L}^{(n)} \quad \text{and} \quad T_{\mu\nu} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} t^{n} T_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} , \qquad (3.71)$$

where

$$T^{(n)}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \mathcal{L}^{(n)} \,. \tag{3.72}$$

Employing this expansion we can solve the flow equation³

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} T_{\mu\nu} T_{\rho\sigma} = \frac{1}{2} \left(g^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} \right)^2 - \frac{1}{2} T^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (3.73)$$

order by order. Using (3.71), our flow equation (3.73) at order t^{n-1} reads

$$\mathcal{L}^{(n)} = \frac{1}{2n} (g^{\mu\nu} g^{\rho\sigma} - g^{\mu\sigma} g^{\rho\nu}) \sum_{i+j=n-1} (2 - \delta_{ij}) T^{(i)}_{\mu\nu} T^{(j)}_{\rho\sigma} \,. \tag{3.74}$$

³Here we have used the identity $g^{\mu\nu}g^{\rho\sigma} - g^{\rho\nu}g^{\mu\sigma} = \varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma}$ which holds true in two dimensions.

Since $\mathcal{L}^{(n)}$ only depends on the metric through X we can apply the chain rule to obtain

$$2e_a^{\mu}e_b^{\nu}\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial g^{\mu\nu}} = X_{c(a}\delta_{b)d}\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial X_{cd}}.$$
(3.75)

Furthermore, as we will see below $\mathcal{L}^{(n)}$ only depends on the symmetric part of X which we will denote by $\tilde{X}_{ab} = X_{(ab)}$. We can now solve (3.73) order by order starting from the undeformed energy momentum tensor (3.70). At order t^0 we have

$$\mathcal{L}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{Tr} X \right)^2 - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(\tilde{X}^2) + V^2 + V \operatorname{Tr} X, \qquad (3.76)$$

from which we can evaluate $T_{ab}^{(1)}$ as follows

$$T_{ab}^{(1)} = \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X} \tilde{X}_{ab} - \left(\tilde{X} X\right)_{(ab)} + V \tilde{X}_{ab} - 2\delta_{ab} \mathcal{L}^{(1)} \,.$$
(3.77)

Next we analyze the flow equation (3.73) at order t^1 which, after dividing by 2t, reads

$$\mathcal{L}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^3 - \frac{3}{8} \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X} \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2 + \frac{1}{8} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X} \right)^3 + \frac{V}{4} \left((\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^2 - \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2 \right) \,. \tag{3.78}$$

The corresponding contribution to the energy momentum tensor is

$$T_{ab}^{(2)} = \frac{3}{4} (\tilde{X}^2 X)_{(ab)} - \frac{3}{4} (\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}) (\tilde{X} X)_{(ab)} - \frac{3}{8} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2 - (\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^2 \right) \tilde{X}_{ab} + \frac{V}{2} \left((\tilde{X} X)_{(ab)} - \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X} \tilde{X}_{ab} \right) - \delta_{ab} \mathcal{L}^{(2)} .$$
(3.79)

The final term in the *t*-expansion of the Lagrangian is determined by equating the terms at order t^2 in (3.73). At this order we find

$$\mathcal{L}^{(3)} = -\frac{1}{6} \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^4 + \frac{1}{12} (\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2)^2 + \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X} \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^3 - \frac{5}{24} (\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^2 \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2 + \frac{1}{24} (\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^4.$$
(3.80)

Note that the higher order terms in the *t*-expansion of the flow equation (3.73) vanish identically thanks to the Grassmann nature of the fermionic fields from which X is built. The final form of the $T\bar{T}$ -deformed Lagrangian is therefore

$$\mathcal{L} = \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X} + V + \frac{t}{2} \left((\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^2 - \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2 + 2V(V + \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}) \right) + \frac{t^2}{2} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^3 - \frac{3}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X} \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^3 + V(\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^2 - V \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2 \right) - \frac{t^3}{3} \left(2 \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^4 - (\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2)^2 - 3 \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X} \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^3 + \frac{5}{2} (\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^2 \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^4 \right),$$
(3.81)

where \tilde{X} is given by

$$\tilde{X}_{ab} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma_{(a} \nabla_{b)} \psi - \nabla_{(a} \bar{\psi} \gamma_{b)} \psi \right) .$$
(3.82)

By expanding (3.81) and using Fierz identities one can in fact show that the expression for the Lagrangian drastically simplifies to

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}^{(0)} + \frac{t}{4} \left((\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^2 - \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2 + 2m^2 (\bar{\psi}\psi)^2 - 2m\bar{\psi}\psi \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X} \right) - \frac{t^2}{8} m\bar{\psi}\psi \left((\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X})^2 - \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{X}^2 \right).$$
(3.83)

The explicit form of the $T\bar{T}$ -deformed Lagrangian in (flat) complex coordinates is

$$\mathcal{L}(t) = i\left(\bar{\psi}_{-}\overleftrightarrow{\partial_{z}}\psi_{-} - \bar{\psi}_{+}\overleftrightarrow{\partial_{\bar{z}}}\psi_{+}\right) - m\left(\bar{\psi}_{-}\psi_{+} - \bar{\psi}_{+}\psi_{-}\right) + (\lambda - m^{2}t)\bar{\psi}_{+}\bar{\psi}_{-}\psi_{+}\psi_{-}$$

$$-\frac{imt}{2}\left[\bar{\psi}_{+}\bar{\psi}_{-}\left(\psi_{-}\partial_{z}\psi_{-} - \psi_{+}\partial_{\bar{z}}\psi_{+}\right) + \psi_{+}\psi_{-}\left(\bar{\psi}_{-}\partial_{z}\bar{\psi}_{-} - \bar{\psi}_{+}\partial_{\bar{z}}\bar{\psi}_{+}\right)\right]$$

$$+\frac{t}{4}\left[\left(\bar{\psi}_{+}\overleftrightarrow{\partial_{\bar{z}}}\psi_{+}\right)\left(\bar{\psi}_{-}\overleftrightarrow{\partial_{\bar{z}}}\psi_{-}\right) + \bar{\psi}_{-}\partial_{z}\bar{\psi}_{-}\psi_{-}\partial_{z}\psi_{-} + \bar{\psi}_{+}\partial_{\bar{z}}\bar{\psi}_{+}\psi_{+}\partial_{\bar{z}}\psi_{+} - 2\left(\bar{\psi}_{+}\overleftrightarrow{\partial_{\bar{z}}}\psi_{+}\right)\left(\bar{\psi}_{-}\overleftrightarrow{\partial_{\bar{z}}}\psi_{-}\right)\right)$$

$$-\frac{mt^{2}}{8}\bar{\psi}_{+}\bar{\psi}_{-}\psi_{+}\psi_{-}\left(\partial_{z}\bar{\psi}_{-}\partial_{\bar{z}}\psi_{+} - \partial_{\bar{z}}\bar{\psi}_{+}\partial_{z}\psi_{-} - 2\partial_{\bar{z}}\bar{\psi}_{-}\partial_{z}\psi_{+} + 2\partial_{z}\bar{\psi}_{+}\partial_{\bar{z}}\psi_{-}\right).$$

$$(3.84)$$

We stress that the expansion in the deformation parameter terminates. This is akin to the observation made in [31] for a Lorentz-breaking irrelevant deformation analogous to $T\bar{T}$. Consequently we anticipate that for the deformed theory to receive an infinite series of corrections, as is the case for the Goldstino [48], we need to turn on an infinite tower of irrelevant deformations.

3.8 Generalisation to higher dimensions

Let us consider higher dimensional generalisations of the $T\bar{T}$ -deformations. Such a generalisation was recently proposed by J. Cardy [10] in the form of $|\det T|^{1/\alpha}$ with $\alpha = D - 1$ in D dimensions. We will treat this generalisation, for more general values of the parameter α , in some detail later in the section.

Let us remark in passing that there is another possible generalisation of the TT-deformation which remains quadratic in the energy momentum tensor. Starting in two dimensions we first use the identity $\epsilon^{\mu\nu}\epsilon^{\rho\sigma} = g^{\mu\rho}g^{\nu\sigma} - g^{\nu\rho}g^{\mu\sigma}$. This suggests the following *D*-dimensional generalisation of the flow equation

$$\partial_t S = \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^D x \,\sqrt{g} \left[\left(g^{\mu\rho} g^{\nu\sigma} - g^{\nu\rho} g^{\mu\sigma} \right) \left(\frac{-2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu\rho}} \right) \left(\frac{-2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\nu\sigma}} \right) \right]. \tag{3.85}$$

For a single scalar field – without conformal couplings – the flow equation for the Lagrangian takes the form

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = (D-1) \left[(D/2) \mathcal{L}^2 - 2X \partial_X \mathcal{L} \mathcal{L} \right] , \qquad (3.86)$$

where $X = \partial_{\mu} \phi g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} \phi$, which reduces to the Burgers' equation. Although we do not treat this case further in this work, let us note that this could have a more natural AdS dual interpretation compared to the $(\det T)^{1/\alpha}$. Whether either of these generalisations can be defined at the quantum level remains an open question. We remark that the scaling solution, i.e. with $\mathcal{L}_{t=0} = \frac{1}{2}X$, of this equation is given by solving the algebraic equation $\left(1 + \frac{D(D-1)}{2}t\mathcal{L}\right)^{4-D}\mathcal{L}^D = (X/2)^D$. Therefore, the free massless scalar in four dimensions is a fixed point of the flow and one needs to turn on a potential (or a conformal coupling) to have a nontrivial evolution.

We now turn our attention to the flow instigated by an operator of the form $(-\det T)^{1/\alpha}$ in *D*-dimensions resulting in the flow equation

$$\partial_t S = \frac{1}{\alpha - D} \int \mathrm{d}^D x \,\sqrt{g} \left[\frac{-1}{D!} \epsilon^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_D} \epsilon^{\nu_1 \dots \nu_D} \left(\frac{-2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu_1 \nu_1}} \right) \dots \left(\frac{-2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu_D \nu_D}} \right) \right]^{1/\alpha} \tag{3.87}$$

where α is a real parameter⁴. For this to be an irrelevant deformation for CFTs we take $0 < \alpha < D$ and we further assume α to be an integer. Let us integrate the above equation in the case of a scalar field ϕ by reducing it to a partial differential equation. Once more we define $X = \partial_{\mu} \phi g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} \phi$ and write the solution as

$$S = \int \mathrm{d}^D x \sqrt{g} \mathcal{L}(X, t) \tag{3.88}$$

with the initial condition

$$\mathcal{L}(X,0) = \frac{1}{2}X + V$$
 (3.89)

for a generic local potential $V = V(\phi)$. Since the deformed Lagrangian only depends on the background metric through X the expression for the associated energy momentum tensor simplifies to

$$\frac{-2}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = g_{\mu\nu}\mathcal{L} - 2\partial_X \mathcal{L}\partial_\mu \phi \partial_\nu \phi \,. \tag{3.90}$$

Using the above expression, equation (3.87) simplifies to

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{\alpha - D} \left[-\mathcal{L}^D + 2\mathcal{L}^{D-1}(X\partial_X)\mathcal{L} \right]^{1/\alpha}.$$
(3.91)

This can be further simplified by considering the redefinition

$$Y = (-1)^{\alpha} X^{\frac{\alpha - D}{2}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{L} = \sqrt{X} f^{\frac{1}{D - \alpha}}, \qquad (3.92)$$

yielding

$$(\partial_t f)^{\alpha} + f^{\alpha} \partial_Y f = 0, \qquad (3.93)$$

⁴The case of [10] is $\alpha = D - 1$, but we keep this parameter free to different examples.

which reduces to the Burgers' equation for $\alpha = 1$. The relevant initial condition is obtained by inverting the above redefinitions in $f = (X^{-1/2}\mathcal{L})^{D-\alpha}$ and $X = [(-1)^{\alpha}Y]^{\frac{2}{\alpha-D}}$. The initial condition therefore takes the form

$$f(0,Y) = (-1)^{\alpha} Y \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left[(-1)^{\alpha} Y \right]^{\frac{2}{\alpha-D}} + V \right\}^{D-\alpha} .$$
(3.94)

Below we solve (3.93) with this initial condition in a few cases.

The solution of the Burgers' equation, that is (3.93) with $\alpha = 1$, is given by solving the implicit equation,

$$f(t,Y) = f(0,Y - tf(t,Y)) , \qquad (3.95)$$

which for our initial condition reads

$$\frac{f}{tf - Y} = \left[\frac{1}{2}\left(tf - Y\right)^{\frac{2}{1 - D}} + V\right]^{D - 1}.$$
(3.96)

Exact solutions of equation (3.96) can be obtained explicitly for low values of the dimension D and for a generic potential. The solution drastically simplifies in the case of the massless free scalar, *i.e.* V = 0, and reads as

$$f(t,Y) = \frac{1}{2t} \left(Y + \sqrt{Y^2 + \frac{t}{2^{D-3}}} \right) \,. \tag{3.97}$$

This results in the deformed Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{D,1}(t,X) = \left\{ \frac{1}{2t} \left[\sqrt{1 + 4t(X/2)^{D-1}} - 1 \right] \right\}^{1/(D-1)} .$$
(3.98)

Another interesting case which can be simplified is the scaling solution for the free massless scalar field and arbitrary value of α . In this case the differential equation,

$$(\partial_t f)^{\alpha} + f^{\alpha} \partial_Y f = 0, \qquad (3.99)$$

is accompanied by the simple boundary condition $f(0, Y) = \frac{(-1)^{\alpha}}{2^{D-\alpha}} \frac{1}{Y}$. We can further reduce eq. (3.99) by using scaling symmetry. This enables us to set

$$f(t,Y) = (-\alpha/2)^{\alpha} t^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}} K\left(Y t^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}}\right) , \qquad (3.100)$$

and reduces the PDE above to an ODE in the variable $Z = Yt^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}}$:

$$0 = \left(1 + Z\frac{K'}{K}\right)^{\alpha} + K'.$$
(3.101)

This equation should have a solution such that $K \sim \frac{1}{kZ}$ for large positive Z and with $k = 2^{D-2\alpha}(\alpha)^{\alpha}$. After some thought one can see that such a solution indeed exists. Of course, the case $\alpha = 1$ reproduces the solution (3.97) for the Burgers' equation. The explicit solution for the first few small integer values of α can be computed by reducing to quadratures. For example, at $\alpha = 2$ we find

$$K = \frac{1}{c^2 Z + c}$$
 with $c^2 = 2^{D-2}$, (3.102)

where the two possible signs of c are related by the $t \to -t$ symmetry of the equation. The corresponding Lagrangian (with $c = 2^{(D-2)/2}$) is

$$\mathcal{L}_{D,2} = \frac{X}{2} \frac{1}{\left[1 + t(X/2)^{\frac{D-2}{2}}\right]^{\frac{1}{D-2}}}.$$
(3.103)

In particular, for D = 3, the above Lagrangian is the result of integrating the $(\det T)^{\frac{1}{D-1}}$ deformation proposed in [10] for a free scalar field theory in three dimensions which takes the simple form

$$\mathcal{L}_{3,2} = \frac{X}{2} \frac{1}{1 + t\sqrt{X/2}} \,. \tag{3.104}$$

Chapter 4 Conclusions and discussions

In this thesis we review all the background of $T\bar{T}$ deformation and the applications to holography. Then we focus on studying the flow equation for the $T\bar{T}$ deformed QFTs and its extensions to higher dimensions, both for conformal and for massive theories.

In Chapter 2, we first review the construction of $T\bar{T}$ operator by Zamolodchikov [4]. The non-derivative divergent parts of the operators $T(z) \overline{T}(z')$ and $\Theta(z) \Theta(z')$ cancel each other in the limit $z \to z'$. Thus we can define the compostie operator $T\bar{T} = T(z)\bar{T}(z') - T(z)\bar{T}(z')$ $\Theta(z) \Theta(z')$ up to total derivative terms. The TT operator turns out to be a special case of a kind of local operators X_s , which are constructed from local conserved currents $(T_{s+1}(z), \Theta_{s-1}(z))$ by $T_{s+1}(z) \overline{T}_{s+1}(z') - \Theta_{s-1}(z) \overline{\Theta}_{s-1}(z')$. Each X_s generate a deformation of the IQFT by equation (1.4). Smirnov and Zamolodchikov [9] proved the above deformation preserves integrability. The idea is under the deformation if we deform the conserved currents in a systematic way the local IM P_{σ} of the theory are still conserved. The TT deformation is special in that the deformed theories are solvable in a certain sense, even when the original theory is not integrable. When the theory is put on a cylinder with circumference Rone can derive the closed differential equation for energy levels (2.90) for the TT deformed theory from which one can solve for the energy levels. The flow equation for the deformed Lagrangian density (2.80) is also discussed. We then review the deformation of two particle S-matrix under the TT deformation of CFT. At last we review the cutoff AdS/TT-deformed CFT duality following [35]. In this duality the $T\bar{T}$ deformation represents a geometric cutoff that places the QFT on a Dirichlet boundary at finite radial distance. The motivation is the correspondence between quantities computed on the two sides, including the deformed energy spectrum and the perturbative propagation speeds.

In Chapter 3 we propose a simple integration technique for the $T\bar{T}$ flow equation. The flow equation induced by the $T\bar{T}$ deformation can be reformulated as a functional equation. We notice the deformation operator does not generate terms involving derivatives of the metric unless such terms are already present in the undeformed Lagrangian. The flow equation reduces to a partial differential equation in the deformation variable t and invariants formed from the metric and the dynamical fields. In many cases the PDE can be solved exactly giving the deformed Lagrangian in closed form. We study many cases including notably non-linear σ -models and the massive Thirring model. We also try to make some generalisations to higher dimensions.

There are many other theories of interest in two dimensions to which our approach can be applied, notably Yang-Mills theories and gauged linear σ -models as well as their supersymmetric counterparts. Moreover, the method presented here can be extended to flows instigated by analogs of the $T\bar{T}$ -operator involving higher spin currents proposed in [9] or symmetry breaking currents such as the one discussed in [31]. One of the most pressing questions left unanswered is the issue of extending the exact integration method to theories whose undeformed action includes curvature couplings, such as the conformal coupling term for scalars in higher dimensions. Another crucial issue yet to be addressed with regards to the higher dimensional generalisations of the $T\bar{T}$ operator is to analyze the existence or absence of contact terms, along the lines of [4], for the composite operator (det T)^{1/ α} in D > 2 and for different values of α . The holographic interpretation of $T\bar{T}$ -like deformations in higher dimensions is also of great interest and needs to be addressed.

Appendix A Method of characteristic curves

The flow equation can actually be solved independently through the method of characteristic curves. Lets first rewrite the equation in a more familiar form by defining

$$y := -2X^{-1/2}, \qquad f(y,t) := -\frac{1}{2}y \mathcal{L}(4/y^2,t)$$
 (A.1)

The equation translates to the following equation for our new function f as a function of the new variable y and t:

$$\partial_t f + f \partial_y f = 0 \tag{A.2}$$

This equation is known as the Burger's equation and can be solved as follows. Consider the three dimensional space \mathbb{R}^3 spanned by three real variables $\{t, y, f\}$. The above equation defines a (hyper)surface Σ in this space whose normal vector field is

$$n = (\partial_t f, \, \partial_y f, \, -1) \tag{A.3}$$

since the one for $\partial_t f \, dt + \partial_y f \, dy - df$ vanishes identically when projected onto the surface f = f(t, y). Equation (A.2) has a simple geometrical interpretation as it simply states that the vector field

$$v = (1, f, 0)$$
 (A.4)

is tangent to Σ and defines a characteristic curve. We can parameterize such a curve with a parameter s and set

$$v = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\mathrm{d}s}, \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}s}, \frac{\mathrm{d}f}{\mathrm{d}s}\right) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\mathrm{d}s} = 1, \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}s} = f, \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}f}{\mathrm{d}s} = 0$$
(A.5)

The first equation $\frac{dt}{ds} = 0$ enables us choose s = t to parameterize the curve. The second and third equation together then yield

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}f}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 y}{\mathrm{d}t^2} = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad y(t) = y_\circ + tf \quad \Rightarrow \quad y_\circ = y(t) - tf \tag{A.6}$$

Note that the third equation as an equation for f = f(y(t), t) reads

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}f(y(t),t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = \partial_t f + \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} \partial_y f = \partial_t f + f \partial_y f = 0 \tag{A.7}$$

which is simply (A.2). However, this equation is also constraining f(y(t), t) to be constant along the curve. This implies

$$f(y(t),t) = f(y(0),0) = f(y_{\circ},0) = f(y(t) - tf,0)$$
(A.8)

where f(u, 0) is related to the *undeformed* Lagrangian

$$f(u,0) = -\frac{1}{2}u \mathcal{L}(4/u^2, 0)$$
 (A.9)

Appendix B

Details of integrating $T\overline{T}$ deformed theories with curvature couplings

Consider the undeformed Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}(t=0) = \frac{1}{2}X + \alpha_{\circ}\phi R \tag{B.1}$$

where R denotes the Ricci scalar associated with the background metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. This Lagrangian describes a theory with central charge $c = 1 + 6Q^2$, where $\alpha_{\circ} = \sqrt{2\pi}Q$. let us use the notation $\mathcal{L}_i^{(j)}$ to denote the expansion of term order (t^j, α_0^i) . The expansion can be written as

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \alpha_0^i t^j \mathcal{L}_i^{(j)} \tag{B.2}$$

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = \sum_i \sum_{j=1}^{i} \alpha_0^i j t^{j-1} \mathcal{L}_i^{(j)}.$$
 (B.3)

The flow equation is expanded as

$$\sum_{i} \sum_{j=0}^{i} (j+1) \alpha_{0}^{i} t^{j} \mathcal{L}_{i}^{(j+1)} = \sum_{q=0}^{i} \sum_{k=0}^{j} \alpha_{0}^{i} t^{j} \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} T_{q\mu\nu}^{(k)} T_{(i-q)\rho\sigma}^{(j-k)}$$
(B.4)

where

$$T_{i\mu\nu}^{(j)} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \int d^2x \sqrt{g} \mathcal{L}_i^{(j)}.$$
 (B.5)

The initial condition is now

$$\mathcal{L}_0^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2}X\tag{B.6}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_1^{(0)} = \alpha_0 \phi R. \tag{B.7}$$

Also we know that at order α_0^0 we recover the result of free massless scalar

$$\mathcal{L}_0 = \frac{-1 + \sqrt{1 + 2tX}}{2t}.\tag{B.8}$$

To calculate the energy-momentum tensor we need to vary the Ricci scalar R against the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. For example let us compute the variation of $\phi\sqrt{g}R$

$$\delta \left(\phi \sqrt{g} R \right)$$

$$= \delta \left(\phi \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu} \right)$$

$$= \phi \sqrt{g} \left(g^{\mu\nu} \delta R_{\mu\nu} + \delta g^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} R \right).$$
(B.9)

The first term is

$$\begin{aligned} \phi \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} \delta R_{\mu\nu} & (B.10) \\ &= \phi \sqrt{g} \nabla_{\rho} \left(g^{\mu\nu} \delta \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} - g^{\mu\rho} \delta \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\lambda} \right) \\ &= \phi \partial_{\rho} \left(\sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} \delta \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} - \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\rho} \delta \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\lambda} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Variation of Christoffel symbol is

$$\delta\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\rho\lambda} \left[\nabla_{\upsilon}\delta g_{\mu\lambda} + \nabla_{\mu}\delta g_{\upsilon\lambda} - \nabla_{\lambda}\delta g_{\mu\upsilon}\right] \tag{B.11}$$

$$\delta\Gamma^{\beta}_{\ \mu\beta} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\beta\lambda} \left[\nabla_{\beta}\delta g_{\mu\lambda} + \nabla_{\mu}\delta g_{\beta\lambda} - \nabla_{\lambda}\delta g_{\mu\beta}\right]. \tag{B.12}$$

So the first term is computed as

$$\begin{aligned} & \sqrt{g}\phi g^{\mu\nu}\delta R_{\mu\nu} & (B.13) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{g}\partial_{\rho}\phi \left(g^{\mu\nu}g^{\rho\lambda}\left[\nabla_{\upsilon}\delta g_{\mu\lambda} + \nabla_{\mu}\delta g_{\upsilon\lambda} - \nabla_{\lambda}\delta g_{\mu\nu}\right] - g^{\mu\rho}g^{\beta\lambda}\left[\nabla_{\beta}\delta g_{\mu\lambda} + \nabla_{\mu}\delta g_{\beta\lambda} - \nabla_{\lambda}\delta g_{\mu\beta}\right]\right) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{g}\partial_{\rho}\phi \left(-\nabla_{\upsilon}\delta g^{\rho\nu} - \nabla_{\mu}\delta g^{\rho\mu} + \nabla_{\lambda}\left(\delta g^{\mu\nu}g^{\rho\lambda}g_{\mu\nu}\right) - \left(-\nabla_{\beta}\delta g^{\beta\rho} - \nabla_{\mu}\left(g^{\mu\rho}g_{\beta\lambda}\delta g^{\beta\lambda}\right) + \nabla_{\lambda}\delta g^{\rho\lambda}\right)\right) \\ &= -\sqrt{g}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\rho}\phi\delta g^{\rho\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{g}\left(\nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}\phi \left(\delta g^{\mu\nu}g^{\rho\lambda}g_{\mu\nu}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{g}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\rho}\phi \left(g^{\mu\rho}g_{\beta\lambda}\delta g^{\beta\lambda}\right)\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{g}\left(\Box\phi g_{\mu\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} + \Box\phi g_{\beta\lambda}\delta g^{\beta\lambda}\right) - \sqrt{g}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\rho}\phi\delta g^{\rho\mu} \\ &= \sqrt{g}\Box\phi g_{\mu\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} - \sqrt{g}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi\delta g^{\mu\nu}
\end{aligned}$$

where

$$\Box \phi = g^{\rho \lambda} \nabla_{\lambda} \nabla_{\rho} \phi. \tag{B.14}$$

So we get

$$\delta\left(\phi\sqrt{g}R\right) \tag{B.15}$$

$$= \sqrt{g}\phi\left(g^{\mu\nu}\delta R_{\mu\nu} + \delta g^{\mu\nu}R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu}R\right)$$

$$= \sqrt{g}\phi g^{\mu\nu}\delta R_{\mu\nu} + \sqrt{g}\phi\left(R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu}R\right)\delta g^{\mu\nu}$$

$$= \sqrt{g}\Box\phi g_{\mu\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} - \sqrt{g}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi\delta g^{\mu\nu} + \sqrt{g}\phi\left(R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R\right)\delta g^{\mu\nu}$$

$$= \sqrt{g}\Box\phi g_{\mu\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} - \sqrt{g}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi\delta g^{\mu\nu}.$$

In two dimensions we have

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = 0. \tag{B.16}$$

The flow equation at order α_0 is

$$\alpha_{0} \mathcal{L}_{1}^{(1)} = \sum_{q=0}^{1} \alpha_{0} \varepsilon^{\mu \rho} \varepsilon^{\nu \sigma} T_{q \mu \nu}^{(0)} T_{(i-q) \mu \nu}^{(0)}$$

$$= 2 \alpha_{0} \varepsilon^{\mu \rho} \varepsilon^{\nu \sigma} T_{0 \mu \nu}^{(0)} T_{1 \rho \sigma}^{(0)}.$$
(B.17)

We need to compute $T^{(0)}_{0\mu\nu}$ and $T^{(0)}_{1\mu\nu}$

$$T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2}X_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4}g_{\mu\nu}X$$
(B.18)

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \tag{B.19}$$

and the corresponding trace

$$TrT_0^{(0)} = 0$$
 (B.20)

$$TrT_{1}^{(0)} = 0$$
 (B.20)
 $TrT_{1}^{(0)} = 2\Box\phi - \Box\phi + R\phi - \phi R = \Box\phi$ (B.21)

where we have used

$$\begin{split} \phi \delta R & (B.22) \\ &= \phi \left(g^{\mu\nu} \delta R_{\mu\nu} + \delta g^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu} \right) \\ &= \phi g^{\mu\nu} \delta R_{\mu\nu} + \delta g^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu} \phi \\ &= \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \delta g^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu} \phi. \end{split}$$

Since

$$\begin{aligned} \phi g^{\mu\nu} \delta R_{\mu\nu} & (B.23) \\ &= \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \delta g^{\mu\nu}, \end{aligned}$$

 $\mathcal{L}_1^{(1)}$ is easily computed

$$\mathcal{L}_{1}^{(1)} \qquad (B.24)$$

$$= -4\left(\frac{1}{2}X^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4}g^{\mu\nu}X\right)\left(\Box\phi g_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi\right)$$

$$= -2\Box\phi X.$$

We go on to compute $\mathcal{L}_1^{(2)}$

$$2\alpha_0 t \mathcal{L}_1^{(2)} = 2\alpha_0 t \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{1\mu\nu}^{(1)} + 2\alpha_0 t \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} T_{0\mu\nu}^{(1)} T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)}.$$
(B.25)

The first term is computed as

$$T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} X_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} g_{\mu\nu} X \tag{B.26}$$

$$TrT_0^{(0)} = 0$$
 (B.27)

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(1)} = -\Box\phi X_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\mu}X\partial_{\nu}\phi + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\nu}X\partial_{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\gamma}X\partial_{\lambda}\phi g^{\lambda\gamma}g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}X\Box\phi g_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\Box\phi (\mathbf{B}g_{\mu})$$
$$= -\Box\phi X_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\mu}X\partial_{\nu}\phi + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\nu}X\partial_{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\gamma}X\partial_{\lambda}\phi g^{\lambda\gamma}g_{\mu\nu}.$$

 So

$$\varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma}T^{(0)}_{0\mu\nu}T^{(1)}_{1\mu\nu}$$
(B.29)
= $4\left(-\frac{1}{2}X^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\mu\nu}X\right)\left(-\Box\phi X_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\mu}X\partial_{\nu}\phi + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\nu}X\partial_{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\gamma}X\partial_{\lambda}\phi g^{\lambda\gamma}g_{\mu\nu}\right)$
= $\frac{3}{2}X^{2}\Box\phi.$

To compute the second term we need

$$T_{0\mu\nu}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{4}XX_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{16}X^2g_{\mu\nu}$$
(B.30)

$$TrT_0^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{8}X^2 \tag{B.31}$$

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \tag{B.32}$$

$$TrT_1^{(0)} = \Box\phi. \tag{B.33}$$

Thus

$$\varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma}T^{(1)}_{0\mu\nu}T^{(0)}_{1\rho\sigma}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}X^{2}\Box\phi + 4\left(\frac{1}{4}XX^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{16}X^{2}g^{\mu\nu}\right)\left(\Box\phi g_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi\right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}X^{2}\Box\phi.$$
(B.34)

Together we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{1}^{(2)} = \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{1\mu\nu}^{(1)} + \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} T_{0\mu\nu}^{(1)} T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)}$$

$$= \frac{3}{2} X^{2} \Box \phi + \frac{1}{2} X^{2} \Box \phi$$

$$= 2 X^{2} \Box \phi.$$
(B.35)

Similarly for $\mathcal{L}_1^{(3)}$

$$3\mathcal{L}_{1}^{(2+1)} = 2\varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma}T^{(1)}_{0\mu\nu}T^{(1)}_{1\rho\sigma} + 2\varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma}T^{(2)}_{0\mu\nu}T^{(0)}_{1\rho\sigma} + 2\varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma}T^{(0)}_{0\mu\nu}T^{(2)}_{1\rho\sigma}.$$
 (B.36)

Let us collect the energy-momentum tensors

$$T_{0\mu\nu}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{4}XX_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{16}X^2g_{\mu\nu}$$
(B.37)

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(1)} = -\Box\phi X_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\mu}X\partial_{\nu}\phi + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\nu}X\partial_{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\gamma}X\partial_{\lambda}\phi g^{\lambda\gamma}g_{\mu\nu}$$
(B.38)

$$T_{0\mu\nu}^{(2)} = \frac{3}{16} X^2 X_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{32} g_{\mu\nu} X^3$$
(B.39)

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \tag{B.40}$$

$$T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2}X_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4}g_{\mu\nu}X \tag{B.41}$$

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(2)} = X \Box \phi X_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} X \nabla_{\mu} X \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} X \nabla_{\nu} X \partial_{\mu} \phi + \frac{1}{2} X \partial_{\gamma} X \partial_{\lambda} \phi g^{\lambda\gamma} g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} X^2 \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu}^{(B)} B.42)$$

where we have used

$$\frac{1}{2}\alpha_0 X^2 \delta\left(\Box\phi\right) \tag{B.43}$$

$$= -\alpha_0 X \nabla_\alpha X \partial_\lambda \phi \delta g^{\alpha\lambda} + \frac{1}{2}\alpha_0 X \partial_\gamma X \partial_\lambda \phi g^{\lambda\gamma} g_{\alpha\beta} \delta g^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{4}\alpha_0 X^2 \Box \phi g_{\alpha\beta} \delta g^{\alpha\beta}$$

and the trace

$$TrT_0^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{8}X^2 \tag{B.44}$$

$$TrT_1^{(1)} = -\Box\phi X \tag{B.45}$$

$$TrT_0^{(2)} = \frac{1}{8}X^3$$
 (B.46)

$$TrT_1^{(0)} = \Box\phi \tag{B.47}$$

$$TrT_0^{(0)} = 0 (B.48)$$

$$TrT_1^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2}X^2 \Box \phi.$$
 (B.49)

Together we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{1}^{(3)} = -\frac{8}{3}X^{3}\Box\phi. \tag{B.50}$$

Put the first terms together

$$\mathcal{L}_{1} = \phi R - 2t X \Box \phi + 2t^{2} X^{2} \Box \phi - \frac{8}{3} t^{3} X^{3} \Box \phi + \mathcal{O}\left(t^{3}\right).$$
(B.51)

This leads us to consider the following ansatz

$$\mathcal{L}_1 = \phi R + f(tX) \,\Box \phi. \tag{B.52}$$

Then

$$T_{1\mu\nu} = \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi + f'(tX) t X_{\mu\nu} \Box \phi - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} f \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\nu} f \partial_{\mu} \phi \qquad (B.53)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\rho} f \partial^{\rho} \phi g_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} f \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} f(tX) \Box \phi$$
$$= \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi + f'(tX) t X_{\mu\nu} \Box \phi - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} f \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\nu} f \partial_{\mu} \phi + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\rho} f \partial^{\rho} \phi g_{\mu\nu}$$

and

$$TrT_1 = \Box \phi + f'(tX) tX \Box \phi. \tag{B.54}$$

Our flow equation is

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L} = \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \right) \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\rho\sigma}} \right). \tag{B.55}$$

Expand it on α_0

$$\sum_{i} \alpha_{0}^{i} \partial_{t} \mathcal{L}_{i} = \alpha_{0}^{i} \sum_{k=0}^{i} \varepsilon^{\mu \rho} \varepsilon^{\upsilon \sigma} T_{k \mu \nu} T_{(i-k)\rho \sigma}.$$
(B.56)

Now for i = 1

$$\partial_t \mathcal{L}_1 = 2\varepsilon^{\mu\rho}\varepsilon^{\nu\sigma}T_{0\mu\nu}T_{1\rho\sigma}.$$
(B.57)

Since

$$\mathcal{L}_0 = -\frac{1}{2t} + \frac{1}{2t}\sqrt{1+2tX},$$
(B.58)

we have

$$T_{0\mu\nu} = \frac{X_{\mu\nu}}{2\sqrt{1+2tX}} + \frac{1}{4t}g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{\sqrt{1+2tX}}{4t}g_{\mu\nu}$$
(B.59)

$$TrT_0 = \frac{X}{2\sqrt{1+2tX}} + \frac{1}{2t} - \frac{\sqrt{1+2tX}}{t}.$$
 (B.60)

The flow equation

$$f'X\Box\phi$$
(B.61)
= $2\Box\phi\left(\frac{1}{4t} - \frac{1}{4t}\sqrt{1 + 2tX} + \frac{1}{2}f'X - \frac{1}{2}f'\sqrt{1 + 2tX}X - \frac{1}{2t}q(2tX) - \frac{\sqrt{1 + 2tX}}{4t}\right)$

where

$$q(y) = 1 + \int \frac{y}{2\sqrt{1+2y}} f' dy.$$
 (B.62)

Multiply t on both sides we get

$$2\sqrt{1+2y} + f'y\sqrt{1+y} + 2q(y) - 2 = 0$$
(B.63)

where

$$y = tX. (B.64)$$

solve for f'

$$f'(y) = -\frac{1}{1+2y} + \frac{C_1}{2y(1+2y)}$$
(B.65)

$$f(y) = C_1 \log 2y - (1 + C_1) \log (1 + 2y) + C_2$$
(B.66)

with initial condition

$$\lim_{y \to 0} f(y) = 0.$$
 (B.67)

we get

$$f(y) = -\log(1+2y).$$
 (B.68)

 So

$$\mathcal{L}_1 = \phi R - \log\left(1 + 2tX\right) \Box \phi \tag{B.69}$$

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2t} + \frac{1}{2t}\sqrt{1 + 2tX} + \alpha_0\phi R - \alpha_0\log\left(1 + 2tX\right)\Box\phi + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha_0^2\right).$$
(B.70)

We can go on to investigate order α_0^2 terms. We can easily compute

$$\mathcal{L}_{2}^{(0)} = 0 \tag{B.71}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{2}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2}RX \tag{B.72}$$

for $\mathcal{L}_2^{(2)}$ we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{2}^{(2)} = \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(T_{2\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{0\rho\sigma}^{(1)} + T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{1\rho\sigma}^{(1)} + T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{2\rho\sigma}^{(1)} \right)$$

$$= \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{1\rho\sigma}^{(1)} + T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{2\rho\sigma}^{(1)} \right).$$
(B.73)

We need

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \tag{B.74}$$

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(1)} = -\Box\phi X_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\mu}X\partial_{\nu}\phi + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\nu}X\partial_{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\gamma}X\partial_{\lambda}\phi g^{\lambda\gamma}g_{\mu\nu}$$
(B.75)

$$T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} X_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} g_{\mu\nu} X \tag{B.76}$$

$$T_{2\mu\nu}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} X_{\mu\nu} R + \frac{1}{2} \Box X g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} X$$
(B.77)

and the trace

$$TrT_1^{(0)} = \Box\phi \tag{B.78}$$

$$TrT_1^{(1)} = -\Box\phi X \tag{B.79}$$

$$TrT_0^{(0)} = 0$$
 (B.80)

$$TrT_2^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2}XR + \frac{1}{2}\Box X.$$
 (B.81)

We get

$$\mathcal{L}_{2}^{(2)} = T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{1\rho\sigma}^{(1)} + T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{2\rho\sigma}^{(1)}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{8} R X^{2} - \frac{5}{4} Y \Box \phi - \frac{1}{2} X \Box X.$$
(B.82)

To compute $\mathcal{L}_2^{(3)}$

$$3\alpha_0^2 t^3 \mathcal{L}_2^{(2+1)} = \sum_{q=0}^2 \sum_{k=0}^2 \alpha_0^i t^j \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} T_{q\mu\nu}^{(k)} T_{(i-q)\rho\sigma}^{(j-k)}$$

$$= \varepsilon^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon^{\nu\sigma} \left(T_{1\mu\nu}^{(1)} T_{1\rho\sigma}^{(1)} + 2T_{0\mu\nu}^{(1)} T_{2\rho\sigma}^{(1)} + 2T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{1\rho\sigma}^{(2)} + 2T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} T_{2\rho\sigma}^{(2)} \right),$$
(B.83)

we need

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(1)} = -\Box\phi X_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\mu}X\partial_{\nu}\phi + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\nu}X\partial_{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\gamma}X\partial_{\lambda}\phi g^{\lambda\gamma}g_{\mu\nu}$$
(B.84)

$$T_{0\mu\nu}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{4}XX_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{16}X^2g_{\mu\nu}$$
(B.85)

$$T_{2\mu\nu}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} X_{\mu\nu} R + \frac{1}{2} \Box X g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} X$$
(B.86)

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \tag{B.87}$$

$$T_{1\mu\nu}^{(2)} = X \Box \phi X_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} X \nabla_{\mu} X \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} X \nabla_{\nu} X \partial_{\mu} \phi + \frac{1}{2} X \partial_{\gamma} X \partial_{\lambda} \phi g^{\lambda\gamma} g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} X^2 \Box \phi g_{\mu} B.88)$$

$$T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} X_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} X.$$
(B.89)

$$T_{0\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2}X_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4}g_{\mu\nu}X.$$
(B.89)

Also we need to compute $T^{(2)}_{2\mu\nu}$, since

$$\mathcal{L}_{2}^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{8}RX^{2} - \frac{5}{4}X_{3}\Box\phi - \frac{1}{2}X\Box X$$
(B.90)

$$T_{2\mu\nu}^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{4}RXX_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{8}\Box X^2 g_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{8}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}X^2$$

$$+\frac{5}{8}\nabla_{\mu}X_3\partial_{\nu}\phi + \frac{5}{8}\nabla_{\nu}X_3\partial_{\mu}\phi - \frac{5}{8}\partial_{\gamma}X_3\partial_{\lambda}\phi g^{\lambda\gamma}g_{\mu\nu}$$

$$-\frac{5}{8}\partial_{\mu}X\partial_{\nu}\phi\Box\phi - \frac{5}{8}\partial_{\nu}X\partial_{\mu}\phi\Box\phi + \frac{5}{4}X_{\mu\nu}(\Box\phi)^2 + \frac{5}{4}X_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\rho}\phi\nabla^{\rho}(\Box\phi)$$

$$+\frac{1}{2}X_{\mu\nu}\Box X + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}X\partial_{\nu}X - \frac{1}{4}Yg_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4}X\Box Xg_{\mu\nu}$$

$$+g_{\mu\nu}\left(\frac{1}{16}RX^2 + \frac{5}{8}X_3\Box\phi + \frac{1}{4}X\Box X\right)$$
(B.91)

$$TrT_{2}^{(2)}$$
(B.92)
= $-\frac{1}{4}RX^{2} - \frac{1}{4}\Box X^{2} + \frac{1}{8}\Box X^{2}$
 $-\frac{5}{4}X_{3}\Box\phi + \frac{5}{4}X(\Box\phi)^{2} + \frac{5}{4}X\nabla_{\rho}\phi\nabla^{\rho}(\Box\phi)$
 $+\frac{1}{8}RX^{2} + \frac{5}{4}X_{3}\Box\phi + \frac{1}{2}X\Box X$
= $-\frac{1}{8}RX^{2} - \frac{1}{8}\Box X^{2} + \frac{5}{4}X(\Box\phi)^{2} + \frac{5}{4}X\nabla_{\rho}\phi\nabla^{\rho}(\Box\phi) + \frac{1}{2}X\Box X$
= $-\frac{1}{8}RX^{2} - \frac{1}{4}Y + \frac{1}{4}X\Box X + \frac{5}{4}X(\Box\phi)^{2} + \frac{5}{4}X\nabla_{\rho}\phi\nabla^{\rho}(\Box\phi)$

where

$$X_3 = \partial^{\rho} X \partial_{\rho} \phi \tag{B.93}$$

$$Y = \partial^{\rho} X \partial_{\rho} X. \tag{B.94}$$

We get

$$\mathcal{L}_{2}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{16} \left(3RX^{3} + 6X^{2} \Box X - 8X^{2} \left(\Box \phi \right)^{2} + 96XX_{3} \Box \phi + 6X_{3}^{2} \right).$$
(B.95)

Bibliography

- K. G. Wilson, "The renormalization group and critical phenomena," *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 55 (1983) 583–600.
- [2] J. Polchinski, "Renormalization and Effective Lagrangians," Nucl. Phys. B231 (1984) 269–295.
- [3] E. Abdalla, M. B. Abdalla, and D. Rothe, "Non-perturbative methods in 2 dimensional quantum field theory," World Scientific (1991) 750.
- [4] A. B. Zamolodchikov, "Expectation value of composite field T anti-T in two-dimensional quantum field theory," arXiv:hep-th/0401146 [hep-th].
- G. Delfino and G. Niccoli, "Matrix elements of the operator T T-bar in integrable quantum field theory," Nucl. Phys. B707 (2005) 381-404, arXiv:hep-th/0407142 [hep-th].
- [6] M. Caselle, D. Fioravanti, F. Gliozzi, and R. Tateo, "Quantisation of the effective string with TBA," JHEP 07 (2013) 071, arXiv:1305.1278 [hep-th].
- [7] S. Dubovsky, R. Flauger, and V. Gorbenko, "Solving the Simplest Theory of Quantum Gravity," JHEP 09 (2012) 133, arXiv:1205.6805 [hep-th].
- [8] S. Dubovsky, R. Flauger, and V. Gorbenko, "Evidence from Lattice Data for a New Particle on the Worldsheet of the QCD Flux Tube," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **111** no. 6, (2013) 062006, arXiv:1301.2325 [hep-th].
- [9] F. A. Smirnov and A. B. Zamolodchikov, "On space of integrable quantum field theories," Nucl. Phys. B915 (2017) 363-383, arXiv:1608.05499 [hep-th].
- [10] J. Cardy, "The $T\overline{T}$ deformation of quantum field theory as a stochastic process," arXiv:1801.06895 [hep-th].
- [11] O. Aharony, S. Datta, A. Giveon, Y. Jiang, and D. Kutasov, "Modular invariance and uniqueness of $T\bar{T}$ deformed CFT," arXiv:1808.02492 [hep-th].

- [12] M. Taylor, "TT deformations in general dimensions," arXiv:1805.10287 [hep-th].
- [13] S. Datta and Y. Jiang, " $T\bar{T}$ deformed partition functions," arXiv:1806.07426 [hep-th].
- [14] S. Dubovsky, V. Gorbenko, and G. Hernandez-Chifflet, "TT Partition Function from Topological Gravity," arXiv:1805.07386 [hep-th].
- [15] J. P. Babaro, V. F. Foit, G. Giribet, and M. Leoni, "TT type deformation in the presence of a boundary," arXiv:1806.10713 [hep-th].
- [16] R. Conti, L. Iannella, S. Negro, and R. Tateo, "Generalised Born-Infeld models, Lax operators and the TT perturbation," arXiv:1806.11515 [hep-th].
- [17] L. McGough, M. Mezei, and H. Verlinde, "Moving the CFT into the bulk with TT," arXiv:1611.03470 [hep-th].
- [18] M. Asrat, A. Giveon, N. Itzhaki, and D. Kutasov, "Holography Beyond AdS," arXiv:1711.02690 [hep-th].
- [19] A. Giveon, N. Itzhaki, and D. Kutasov, "TT and LST," JHEP 07 (2017) 122, arXiv:1701.05576 [hep-th].
- [20] A. Giveon, N. Itzhaki, and D. Kutasov, "A solvable irrelevant deformation of AdS₃/CFT₂," JHEP **12** (2017) 155, arXiv:1707.05800 [hep-th].
- [21] S. van Leuven, E. Verlinde, and M. Visser, "Towards non-AdS Holography via the Long String Phenomenon," arXiv:1801.02589 [hep-th].
- [22] V. Shyam, "Background independent holographic dual to TT deformed CFT with large central charge in 2 dimensions," JHEP 10 (2017) 108, arXiv:1707.08118
 [hep-th].
- [23] G. Giribet, "TT-deformations, AdS/CFT and correlation functions," JHEP 02 (2018) 114, arXiv:1711.02716 [hep-th].
- [24] A. Bzowski and M. Guica, "The holographic interpretation of JT-deformed CFTs," arXiv:1803.09753 [hep-th].
- [25] B. Chen, L. Chen, and P.-X. Hao, "Entanglement Entropy in TT-Deformed CFT," arXiv:1807.08293 [hep-th].
- [26] T. Hartman, J. Kruthoff, E. Shaghoulian, and A. Tajdini, "Holography at finite cutoff with a T² deformation," arXiv:1807.11401 [hep-th].

- [27] W. Cottrell and A. Hashimoto, "Comments on $T\overline{T}$ double trace deformations and boundary conditions," arXiv:1801.09708 [hep-th].
- [28] O. Aharony and T. Vaknin, "The TT* deformation at large central charge," arXiv:1803.00100 [hep-th].
- [29] S. Dubovsky, V. Gorbenko, and M. Mirbabayi, "Asymptotic fragility, near AdS₂ holography and TT," JHEP 09 (2017) 136, arXiv:1706.06604 [hep-th].
- [30] D. Bernard and B. Doyon, "A hydrodynamic approach to non-equilibrium conformal field theories," J. Stat. Mech. 1603 no. 3, (2016) 033104, arXiv:1507.07474 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [31] M. Guica, "An integrable Lorentz-breaking deformation of two-dimensional CFTs," arXiv:1710.08415 [hep-th].
- [32] S. Chakraborty, A. Giveon, and D. Kutasov, " $J\bar{T}$ deformed CFT_2 and String Theory," arXiv:1806.09667 [hep-th].
- [33] L. Apolo and W. Song, "Strings on warped AdS_3 via $T\bar{J}$ deformations," arXiv:1806.10127 [hep-th].
- [34] S. Dubovsky, V. Gorbenko, and M. Mirbabayi, "Natural Tuning: Towards A Proof of Concept," JHEP 09 (2013) 045, arXiv:1305.6939 [hep-th].
- [35] P. Kraus, J. Liu, and D. Marolf, "Cutoff AdS_3 versus the $T\overline{T}$ deformation," *JHEP* 07 (2018) 027, arXiv:1801.02714 [hep-th].
- [36] J. D. Brown and J. W. York, Jr., "Quasilocal energy and conserved charges derived from the gravitational action," *Phys. Rev.* D47 (1993) 1407–1419, arXiv:gr-qc/9209012 [gr-qc].
- [37] J. D. Brown, J. Creighton, and R. B. Mann, "Temperature, energy and heat capacity of asymptotically anti-de Sitter black holes," *Phys. Rev.* D50 (1994) 6394–6403, arXiv:gr-qc/9405007 [gr-qc].
- [38] V. Balasubramanian and P. Kraus, "A Stress tensor for Anti-de Sitter gravity," Commun. Math. Phys. 208 (1999) 413-428, arXiv:hep-th/9902121 [hep-th].
- [39] P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu, and D. Senechal, *Conformal Field Theory*. Graduate Texts in Contemporary Physics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997. http: //www-spires.fnal.gov/spires/find/books/www?cl=QC174.52.C66D5::1997.
- [40] V. Balasubramanian and P. Kraus, "Space-time and the holographic renormalization group," Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 (1999) 3605-3608, arXiv:hep-th/9903190 [hep-th].

- [41] J. de Boer, E. P. Verlinde, and H. L. Verlinde, "On the holographic renormalization group," JHEP 08 (2000) 003, arXiv:hep-th/9912012 [hep-th].
- [42] D. Brattan, J. Camps, R. Loganayagam, and M. Rangamani, "CFT dual of the AdS Dirichlet problem : Fluid/Gravity on cut-off surfaces," JHEP 12 (2011) 090, arXiv:1106.2577 [hep-th].
- [43] I. Heemskerk and J. Polchinski, "Holographic and Wilsonian Renormalization Groups," JHEP 06 (2011) 031, arXiv:1010.1264 [hep-th].
- [44] T. Faulkner, H. Liu, and M. Rangamani, "Integrating out geometry: Holographic Wilsonian RG and the membrane paradigm," JHEP 08 (2011) 051, arXiv:1010.4036 [hep-th].
- [45] D. Marolf and M. Rangamani, "Causality and the AdS Dirichlet problem," JHEP 04 (2012) 035, arXiv:1201.1233 [hep-th].
- [46] A. M. Polyakov, "Gauge Fields and Strings," Contemp. Concepts Phys. 3 (1987) 1–301.
- [47] A. Cavaglià, S. Negro, I. M. Szécsényi, and R. Tateo, "TT-deformed 2D Quantum Field Theories," JHEP 10 (2016) 112, arXiv:1608.05534 [hep-th].
- [48] A. B. Zamolodchikov, "From tricritical Ising to critical Ising by thermodynamic Bethe ansatz," Nucl. Phys. B358 (1991) 524–546.